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PREFACE 





The

reader who will take the trouble to peruse these pages will discover that the

writer has dealt with events rather than with the men who brought them about or

who figured in them. A variety of reasons prompted this course, but among them

is not included lack of appreciation of the value of biography, nor of the

interest which most people take in the doings of those who took part in acts

worth recording, and of scenes meriting description. These can be more

fittingly treated separately, and under circumstances which will permit their

authors to preserve the sense of historical proportion, which suffers

disturbance when the personal element forms too large a part of the narrative

of a people's progress, thus subordinating the actions of the whole community,

which after all that may be said on the subject, makes or mars its own fortunes

and shapes its own destiny. 




Although

the period of active life of San Francisco has been a short one, as historical

periods go, it has been crowded with incident. Enough of the latter could be

found to present a vivid picture of the career of the metropolis of the Pacific

coast, but in this work something more has been attempted than a mere recital

of occurrences. It has been the purpose of the author to trace the causes of

the growth of the City, and to describe the manifold activities of its

citizens. In his effort to do so he has discovered an urgent necessity for

condensation, and the elimination of a vast quantity of material at his

command. Had he used a tithe of that placed at his disposal the history would

have attained enormous proportions. This data, provided by accommodating and

zealous friends, to whom I here wish to express my gratitude and obligations,

is of a character which would permit of the writing of many monographs with an

amplitude of detail which would perhaps make them more interesting to the

special reader than these two volumes will be to the public generally. 




If the

general reader whose familiarity with particular phases of metropolitan life

finds that their treatment has been inadequate, he is begged to recall that the

activities of a great city are numerous, and that opinions respecting their

importance are almost as varied as the number who give them consideration. He

is reminded that the writer has sought to deal with a hundred subjects, half,

or more, of which would lend themselves to amplification of the sort the minute

reader exacts, but which in these volumes the exigencies of space have

compelled the compression into a few pages, and sometimes into paragraphs.

Episodes in the history of the City which other writers have ably dealt with at

great length have necessarily been epitomized in order that a more

comprehensive survey of the period in which they occurred might be taken, and

because of the writer's belief that their details will grow less interesting as

the years wear on until at last they become a mere speck in the historical

perspective of San Francisco. 




Perhaps

that will be the fate of most of that which we now regard as important. In the

multitude of happenings which the universal historian has to draw upon he finds

comparatively few that he deems worth recording, and fewer still to which he

devotes pages of description. Appalling calamities he passes over with a mere

mention. Gibbon in his monumental history of Rome tells of the destruction of

250,000 lives in a great earthquake which nearly destroyed the city of Antioch

in 551 A. D., and furnishes the reader no other information concerning it than

is contained in his conjecture that "the domestic population of the city

was swollen by the conflux of strangers to the festival of the Ascension,"

and he passes over the calamity which befell the Roman world in the second year

of the reign of Valentinian with a mere reference to a tidal wave which drowned

50,000 people and to the disruption of a mountain; and his relation of the

seismic disaster which overthrew the Colossus of Rhodes is confined to the

recital of that fact coupled with a statement of the disposition made of the

metal of the statue, which he appears to have introduced, more for the purpose

of giving an idea of its size than to illustrate the misfortunes of the

Rhodians. 




The

information, and the imagination necessary to present a graphic and more

extended account were not lacking, but the historian was dealing with the

events of centuries, and was compelled, while observing the limitations of

space, to preserve the sense of proportion. To him tragedies and great

calamities were as the ripples on the surface of a pond when a stone is thrown

into its depths. When the transitory disturbance ceased the stone was

forgotten. Whether consciously or unconsciously Gibbon recognized that it is

the sum total of human happenings and experience which make history, and by a

process of condensation which permitted him to momentarily turn the limelight

of his genius on significant occurrences he succeeded in producing a picture

from which a vivid impression is derived, although the canvas is crowded in

places to the point of confusion. 




On a

lesser scale the annalist of a municipality seeks to accomplish the same

result. He cannot succeed unless he pursues the same method. The description of

a few events, no matter how important they may have seemed to those who

participated in them, cannot truthfully portray the growth of a community.

Their exceptional character stamps them as aberrations. It is only by the

relation of the manner in which a people works out the problem of its everyday

existence that a truthful idea of its status can be conveyed. Ebullitions on

the surface show that there is heat under the caldron, but they do not tell the

story of the causes that produced the heat. 




The

caldron has boiled fiercely at times in San Francisco and has brought a deal of

scum to the top, but when skimmed off and thrown to the side, it is seen that

the liquor beneath has been purified in the process. This story is an attempt

to truthfully describe the boiling and the clarification. In doing so it has

been found necessary to consider many activities and briefly review them,

incidentally reciting the causes that have made their practice possible. In the

following pages will be found not merely an enumeration and relation of events;

they contain, it is hoped, sufficient information to enable the reader to form

a judgment of the progress of the people of San Francisco both spiritually and

materially. 




There is

something about the great industries of the State of California which have made

the growth of the metropolis possible. The trade of the City and its commerce

with foreign nations are treated. The development of the facilities of the

great Bay of San Francisco is traced. The banking operations of the City at

various periods, and its monetary troubles are noted. The labor troubles of the

community, and its effort to promote manufacturing are dealt with. Its civic

aspirations and accomplishments in the way of public improvements, receive

attention, not in the spirit of the booster, but in a candid fashion which

recognizes failures as well as successes. The shortcomings of the people in the

administration of the affairs of the municipality, are described, and the blame

for them placed where the author thinks it belongs. The recreations of the

community: its sports and its amusements; its educational facilities; its

libraries and its literature; its fraternal and social organizations; its

celebrations; its journalism and periodical publications; its homes and its

hotel and restaurant life; its art and its architecture; its churches and its

charities are all included in the survey, and it is hoped that all these varied

activities have been so correlated that the reader will find it possible to

form a correct judgment of the present status of the metropolis and of the

means by which it has been attained. 




It has

not been deemed necessary by the author to encumber his pages with the sources

of his information. He freely confesses his obligations to writers who have

dealt with the early periods, and disavows all claims to special research. For

information concerning the events since 1877 he has depended on personal

observation and information derived from so many sources that an attempt to

make acknowledgment in detail would consume as much space as that required for

their description. But he cannot refrain from renewing his expression of

gratitude to those in authority, and in a position to know, for the trouble

they have taken to provide him with the data upon which the story of the years after

1877 is largely based, and which he hopes has been told without other bias than

that which conviction produces. John P. Young. 




SAN

Francisco, October 1, 1912. 


















 




The Ante-Mission Period 1513 - 1776





CHAPTER I.

THE SPANISH HUNT FOR A SHORT CUT TO THE INDIES 




THE

history of San Francisco begins with the adventuresome march of Balboa across

the Isthmus of Darien in the year 1513. It might even be maintained with some

show of plausibility that it began when Columbus made his convincing exposition

of the spheroidical character of the earth before Ferdinand and Isabella, for

the object of that demonstration had as its underlying motive the discovery of

a new route to the Indies, a quest which started in 1492 and never ceased until

accumulating evidence in the piling up of which the Bay of San Francisco and

what we know as California, figures largely, proved that there was no short

cut. It is not probable that Balboa when he first caught a glimpse of the

Pacific realized the full significance of his discovery, but it is evident from

the promptitude with which plans were formed for cutting through the narrow

neck of land separating North and South America that he, and those with him,

comprehended that with the possibility of sailing into the new ocean would disappear

the obstacle which stood in the way of accomplishing the desire of shortening

the route to the riches of the Orient. 




Panama

was settled in 1517 and in that year a Spanish engineer named Saavedra, one of

the followers of Balboa, mooted the project of a canal. He studied the subject

many years, but in 1529, when his plans were nearly completed he died. Charles

V became interested and ordered surveys, but the work was pronounced

impracticable. His son, Philip II, subsequently gave the matter attention, submitting

it to the consideration of the Dominican friars who found in the scriptural

injunction, "What God hath joined together, let no man put asunder,"

and in his indisposition to exert himself, sufficient excuse for neglecting the

recommendations of engineers and practical men. 




But

while the Spanish crown refused to anticipate the accomplishment of what is to

be the great achievement of the twentieth century there was no abatement of the

desire to explore the unknown ocean. On the 28th of November 1520, Ferdinand

Magellan, who had bargained with Charles V to find for Spain a western passage

to the Moluccas, sailed into the Pacific having passed through the strait which

bears his name. The story of his adventuresome voyage is a familiar one, but

the fact that his discovery of the Philippines was intimately associated with

the Bay of San Francisco and resulted in its subsequent location is rarely

dwelt upon by writers. 




The

Philippines were discovered in 1521. Magellan and a number of his men were

killed by the natives. Some of the survivors escaped and made their way to the

Moluccas where they loaded one of their vessels with spices and set sail for

Panama. But that port was never reached by the "Victoria." Instead

she rounded the Cape of Good Hope, being the first vessel to circumnavigate the

globe. Forty-four years later the Spaniards effected a settlement in the

islands and from that time onward one of the chief objects of the navigators in

the service of the King of Spain was the discovery of a safe port on the west

coast of North America which would break the passage between the Philippines

and Panama which by this time had become the half-way house for the voyagers

between the distant spice isles of the Orient and the Pacific coast countries

to the south of the isthmus. 




On the

31st of May 1591, Luis de Velasco, the viceroy, wrote to Philip II, that the

numerous disasters to the ships sailing between the Philippines and Mexico and

Panama made it imperative to discover a safe harbor. The king ordered a survey

to be made which was undertaken by Sebastian Rodriguez Cermeno, a Portuguese

and an experienced navigator. The result of this exploration was disastrous.

The "St. Augustin," the vessel sailed by Cermeno, after a visit to

the Philippines set sail on July 5, 1595, from the port of Cavite and sighted

New Spain at Cape Mendocino on the 4th of November. The diary of Cermeno which

gives this information states that the "St. Augustin" subsequently

entered a large bay in which the vessel was wrecked. 




The description

of Cermeno makes it apparent that the wreck occurred in the bay that had

previously been entered by Drake, and that the Portuguese had already found the

Bay of Monterey, which he named San Pedro. He described it as being fifteen

leagues from point to point and in latitude 37° north, while the locality in

which the wreck of the "St. Augustin" occurred is fixed by the

statement that the islets in the mouth were in 38° 30', and that the distance

between the two points forming it was about twenty-five leagues. 




The

wreck of the "St. Augustin" occurred on the morning of December 8,

1595. It was not attended with great loss of life, only two perishing. The

survivors managed to reach La Navidad, and later Mexico City. For many years

there was a fiction based on the story of one Miguel Constanse that the partly

had made its way overland to Zacatecas, but recent researches of Richman

establish that the journey was never made, but that the men, some seventy in

all, had reached the port above mentioned in a small open vessel propelled by

square sails and sweeps. 




The

Spaniards had as early as 1556 a fleet of fourteen vessels devoted to the

carriage of treasure and the transportation of supplies to the subjects of

Spain established on the west coast of America. In 1564 Legazpi was

commissioned by Luis de Velasco to subdue the Philippines and he accomplished

his task, founding Manila in 1571. The purpose was to build up a trade with

Mexico, but the islands did not contribute greatly to that result. But a

tolerably brisk intercourse between Molucca, Siam and China was brought about,

the products of those countries being shipped in considerable quantity to New

Spain. 




The

length of the passage was surprisingly great, many voyages consuming over two

hundred days. It was the practice of the navigators to make their course from

the Philippines to Cape Mendocino, after sighting which the coast was skirted

to Cape San Lucas and Acapulco. It was to lessen the hazard of this long voyage

by establishing a station between Mendocino and Mexico and Panama that such

earnest efforts were made to find a safe anchorage as near to the former as

practicable. There appeared to be no particular desire to explore with the view

of effecting settlements. To the contrary there was something like a conviction

that the region was uninviting, its chief drawback being its assumed

inhospitable climate, the fogs of the coast having created the impression that

the country was cold and desolate. 




But

while the Spaniard regarded California territory as a negligible quantity for

purposes of development he was keenly alive to the usefulness of a port of call

which would serve as a station whose function it would be to facilitate the

trade intercourse established with the Orient. And to his perseverance in the

search for the desired harbor, which finally culminated in the discovery of the

Bay of San Francisco, may be traced all the causes which contributed to that

long repose of two and a half centuries during which perhaps the most fertile

region of the globe was withheld from development. 




It may

be idle but it is interesting to speculate on what might have happened, if Sir

Francis Drake, who appeared on the scene about the time that the Spanish were

so intent on making secure their intercourse with the Orient by navigating the

ocean to which Magellan gave the name Pacific, had been animated by other

motives than those of the buccaneer and the chaser of the will-o'-wisp of

Anian. 




Had

Drake when he effected a landing on the shores of the bay which bears his name,

like the Puritans who landed on Plymouth Rock, been a refugee from religious

intolerance, and a searcher for a home, he would not have hastily decided that

the country was too cold, a singular opinion to take possession of a man in

search of a northwest passage from the Pacific to the Atlantic. It is not

surprising that his search was so easily abandoned, and that so little came of

his naming his discovery New Albion. Sir Francis was a good fighter, but a poor

explorer. He had the qualities that go to make up the successful pirate, but

was deficient in those calculated to reflect luster upon the country under

whose flag he sailed, and absolutely none that confer real distinction. 




Drake

sailed through Magellan straits in 1578-9 and up the Pacific coast,

accumulating in the hold of his ship, the "Golden Hind," a store of

silver bars "the bigness of a brick bat eche," according to the

chronicler of his adventures, and reached the comparatively sheltered body of

water near the entrance to the harbor of San Francisco, which he passed without

discerning its existence. When he abandoned his search for Anian, deterred by

the cold, he simply effected a landing to make repairs, and concerned himself

no further about his accomplishment. 




The

appearance of Drake in the North Pacific made the Spanish very uneasy. Although

Drake was a buccaneer pure and simple, the kinsman of a piratical slaver who

had made himself equally obnoxious, they suspected that his motives might be

the same as their own. Maritime activity was very pronounced in England, and

the desire to find a short cut to the Indies had taken possession of many minds

and it was naturally the subject of much discussion of a kind calculated to

alarm the nation hugging the delusion that it could monopolize not alone the

territory of the new world, but of the routes of communication. When Sir

Francis sailed away from the coast, and after rounding the Cape of Good Hope

reached Portsmouth with the news of his exploits there was no abatement of

Spanish anxiety. 




There

was a renewal of the inquiry that had been made some years earlier when England

threatened to become a rival. A memorial was presented to Philip II, which set

forth in strong terms the danger to Spanish supremacy if the English or French

heretics should find the strait which would enable them to enter the Pacific by

sailing from Labrador. So fearsome of the consequences were some of the

advisers of the Spanish king they recommended to him the conquest of China,

probably assuming that possession of that country would remove the incentive to

continued search for the mythical passage. 




Philip

was not enterprising enough to act on so bold a suggestion and he died in 1598

having done little to forward the ambitious projects of those of his subjects

who sought to extend Spanish dominion in the new country. His successor, Philip

III, displayed more active qualities. Shortly after his accession he found a

memorial from Sebastian Vizcaino, who some years earlier had received a pearl

fishing concession which had not proved very profitable, asking further favors

from Philip II, and proposing to make a voyage of exploration with the view of

taking possession of the coast of the Californias for the king. This proposal

had received the indorsement of the Comde de Monterey, who had reminded Philip

that since the wreck of the "St. Augustin" the exploration of the

coast in connection with the object of establishing a station for the vessels

in the Philippine trade had ceased. 




The

examination of the document resulted in a cedula to the Comde de

Monterey to undertake a discovery and settlement in California, and Vizcaino

was commissioned to carry out his proposal. He sailed with four vessels from

Acapulco on the 5th of May, 1602, encountering much stormy weather, landing November

10th in the harbor previously entered by Cabrillo which he named San Diego in

honor of his flagship. Ten days later Vizcaino sailed from San Diego, and on

December 16th he cast anchor in a harbor to which he gave the name of the

Viceroy Monterey. On January 3d he continued his voyage northward reaching what

is known as Drake's bay, which he called Puerto de los Reyes, finally attaining

Mendocino from which he retreated, like Drake, deterred by the cold fogs of the

coast from further investigation. 




The net

result of Vizcaino's voyage of exploration was the establishment of the fact

that there were at least two suitable harbors on the coast of California, San

Diego and Monterey. The latter had in all probability been discovered by Pedro

de Unamuna, a navigator of Macao, who on his return from an exploring

expedition in 1587 had reported finding a bay the description of which matched

that of Monterey, but he never received credit for his discovery. 




That

Vizcaino, Drake, Cermeno and Unamuna should have all passed the entrance to the

harbor of San Francisco without detecting it may seem singular to all but those

who have sailed by the opening which even with the landmarks made familiar to

mariners by the study of charts and observation, is not obtrusively noticeable.

The configuration of the coast is such that the Golden Gate may be easily

overlooked even by those searching for it. Only a survey of the sort not common

in the sixteenth century would disclose it to those unaware of its existence.

It is not strange therefore, despite the persistent search for a good harbor by

navigators of undoubted courage, enterprise and some skill in their calling,

that it should have been reserved for a land expedition to make the important

discovery. 




The

pressing object of the assiduous search for a safe port seems to have been lost

sight of soon after Monterey was discovered. The political relations of Spain

and England after the opening of the seventeenth century apparently removed the

stimulus which moved the Spanish to exert themselves commercially and

otherwise. There was something like a complete allayment of the proverbial

distrust of the Dons, and from 1600 to 1700 there was not more than a single

yearly visit to the coast of Alta California, and that took the form of

sighting Mendocino by the galleon from the Philippines, which after having

ascertained its bearings felt its way southward to the Mexican port of

Acapulco. 




Thus it

came to pass that the knowledge of the existence of the harbor of Monterey in

the course of time became little more than a tradition scarcely kept alive by

the cartographers whose imagination often outran their information. But the

lively belief in Anian endured, and enterprising sailors still dreamed of

finding the passage. Towards the close of the seventeenth century there was a

decided revival of interest, the paramount desire being to find a route which

would be shorter than that around Cape Horn, and perhaps divested of some of

the perils that beset the navigator in rounding the southern extremity of the

continent. 




With the

revival of the Anian fever there was a renewal and strengthening of the

conviction that the region known as California was an island, a belief that was

not discarded until explorations to the Colorado river in 1701, 1702 and 1706

by the Jesuit missionary, Eusabio Francisco Kino, disposed of the fiction. It

can hardly be said that Kino's discoveries were the final word, for the

subsequent explorations of the land expedition which started from the Gila

toward the close of the eighteenth century were required to remove all doubt. 




The

chief interest attaching to the search for the short route which occupied so

much of the thought and time of the people of the centuries immediately

following the discovery of America, so far as California, and particularly San

Francisco are concerned centers in the remarkable attitude of the western world

toward enterprise. The form it took was suggestive of that which governed

during the crusades. There was an abundance of courage, and there was a not

inconsiderable exercise of the faculties which help the solution of great

problems. But there was a noteworthy absence of that highest form of initiative

which devotes itself to the development of resources. 




The

names of those writ largest in the history of the period are of men who were

ready to devote their energies and lives, not to the creation of wealth, but to

acquisition of riches already created. This spirit permeates all the accounts

of the fruitless search for Anian. It begins with the temptation which caused

Ferdinand and Isabella to succumb to the arguments of Columbus that great

wealth could be secured from the Indies where it had already been accumulated

if a short route could be found which would serve as a siphon to draw off the accumulations.






When the

new world was discovered this attitude was but slightly changed. The

opportunities presented by regions of illimitable fertility for profitable

development, while not absolutely disregarded, were subordinated to the

overweening desire to get rich, not by exertion, but by securing the fruits of

the exertions of others. As a result we are called upon to note the persistence

of the lure of the short cut, and the credulous acceptance of tales of isles of

gold, and lands abounding in those things which contribute to the gratification

of the love of ornamentation. 




As early

as 15-13 there was a belief prevalent that there were islands of gold and

silver somewhere in the North Pacific. These mythical isles at first known as

"The Isles of the Armenian" were so firmly believed in that Pedro de

Unamunu was sent to search for them in 1586. The stories concerning their

existence probably had their origin in Japanese folk lore, but the credulous

and eager Spaniard found nothing improbable in them, for the land in which they

originated was rich in the things he coveted and what more natural than to

associate beautiful objects with the abundance of the precious metals. Crude

They were crude economic ideas, characteristic of the times, and those imbued were

not responsible for their existence. They were an inheritance from centuries of

teachings that man's gainful instincts menaced his opportunities to enter into

a future life of happiness, the result of which was to retard useful

production, without, however, blunting his acquisitive desires. They were a

survival from the darkest days of the middle ages, and their persistence

explains the failure of the Spaniard to appreciate and make proper use of the

resources at his command during the three centuries in which he had practical

control over a region now recognized as the most productive on the globe. And

the same explanation applies to the utter disregard of the advantages possessed

by them in their position on the Bay of San Francisco for seventy years without

in the slightest degree improving its facilities, which were no greater when

they were replaced by a more virile people than when Mission Dolores was first

established in 1776. 


















 





CHAPTER II. SPAIN'S PURPOSE IN OCCUPYING CALIFORNIA 





CAPTAIN

COOK, the discoverer of the Sandwich islands, in his narrative threw out the

suggestion that if they had been discovered at an earlier period by the

Spaniards they would doubtless have availed themselves of so excellent a

station, and would have made use of Atooi or some other island of the group as

a place of refreshment for the ships that sailed annually between Acapulco and

Manila. He noted that "they lie almost midway between the last mentioned

place and Guam, which is at present (1777) their only port in traversing this

vast ocean, and it would not have been a j week's sail out of their ordinary

route to have touched at them." 




It is

perhaps idle to speculate on what might have occurred had the Spanish hit upon

the islands. The possibility, however, is suggested of a complete change of the

course of history, for despite the neglect during the seventeenth century of

the matter of securing a desirable station on the coast of California it was

not wholly lost sight of by the authorities, and to a large extent it engrossed

the minds of inissionaries who were working for the salvation of the Indians of

Northern Mexico, and those of the regions we now know as New Mexico and

Arizona. Their zeal did not hinder them from recognizing that their cause would

be advanced by linking it with commercial affairs, and they exhibited a more

intelligent appreciation of the material advantages which would flow from the

possession of a safe port than the inefficient and almost supine

representatives of the crown. 




It does

no violence to the probability that the utilization of the Sandwich islands in

the manner described by Cook would have indefinitely postponed the search for a

harbor which resulted in the discovery of San Francisco. The activities of the

Franciscans and Cook were nearly concurrent with those of the Russians. They

were established in the regions north of California, and as early as 1788 we

find a statement that they imported Chinese artisans, "because of their

reputed hardiness, industry and ingenuity, simple manner of life and low

wages," and they had well defined ideas of the desirability of developing

the country to the south whose agricultural capacities appealed strongly to

their enterprise. 




The

facility with which the Spaniard abandoned his hold on the region lying north

of San Francisco under British pressure indicates what might have happened had

not the land expedition of Portola pushed north and established a settlement on

the Bay of San Francisco. The steady eastward encroachment of the Russians,

which led them across the vast deserts and through the gloomy forests of

Siberia, defying its rigorous climate, and making light of the obstacles

interposed by its mighty rivers until the shores of the Pacific were reached,

compels us to believe that once well-established on the American continent

their march southward would have been irresistible had no political obstacles

interposed. 




The

latter must have been greatly minimized if San Francisco harbor had not been

discovered. The recent researches of the delvers among the musty archives of

Russia disclose that the thought of the acquisition of California was still in

the mind of the czar's advisers years after the missionaries had created their

establishments. That they would have pushed their opportunities at an earlier

period if Spain's indifference had been accentuated by the possession of an

ideal station in the Pacific is hardly debatable. What sort of a civilization

would have followed as the result of their occupation can only be conjectured.

That it would have been more effective materially than that of the Spanish is

suggested by the fact that Russians were able to comprehend possibilities of

whose existence the Spaniard did not dream. 




But the

Sandwich islands were not found by the Don, and, although the urgency for a

station to serve the Manila trade was no longer so great a new promoter of

desire had arisen. Zeal for the redemption of the Indian accomplished that

which the navigator failed to achieve. This movement was by no means wholly

dissociated from material considerations, but it was as nearly unselfish as any

project devised by mortal man. On those points where the secular side was

touched it is plainly apparent that nothing more than recognition of the

necessity of cooperation governed. 




As early

as 1687 the Mission Nuestra Senora de las Dolores was founded by Father Kino

about 120 miles south of the present Tucson. In 1690 Juan Maria de Salvatierra,

who was sent to Sonora as visitador, called at Father Kino's mission and talked

with him about "suspended California," and suggested that its fertile

valleys might be made sufficiently productive to offset the barrenness of

northern Mexico, and thus equalize conditions. 




At this

time Salvatierra and Kino were both under the impression that California was an

island, but subsequently while on a visit to the Mission San Xavier del Bac

Kino told the Indians how the Spaniards had come over the sea from a distant

land to Vera Cruz, and perhaps received some intimation of the

untrustworthiness of the belief in the insular theory. In 1693 he pushed

further into Arizona visiting the Sabos. Journeying about eight leagues from

their land he saw from an eminence what he reckoned to .be at least twenty-five

continuous leagues of the land of California. In 1694 he again visited the

shores of the sea of California, and had his doubts finally resolved. 




Kino was

now bent upon the project of extending the missions into California and visited

the City of Mexico to secure assistance. But his requests were not favorably

regarded, there being no fervor for missionary work at that moment, but in the

ensuing year the new viceroy, the Comde de Montezuma, was inclined to lend ear

to Kino's request and on February 5, 1697, he issued a license authorizing Kino

and Salvatierra to undertake the reduction of the Californias, stipulating,

however, that the work should be at their own expense and that if the reduction

be effected it be in the name of the king. 




In 1700

Kino descended the Gila to its junction with the Colorado, arriving there on

the 7th of October. This achievement practically settled the doubts respecting

the peninsular character of Lower California, but to silence all criticism Kino

resolved to start an expedition which would leave Las Dolores and reach Loretto

by land. It appears, however, that Salvatierra's faith in the insular belief

still survived, for he wrote Kino that the rejoicings at Loretto were much

greater "than he had means and desires to examine at close range what on

distant view might be misleading." 




To Kino

the solution of the problem meant much. He, apparently, was profoundly

convinced that California was a land of wondrous promise, and that its

penetration would not merely result in the removal of pernicious errors and

falsehoods concerning a crowned king, carried on a litter of gold, of a walled

city with towns, and the destruction of the whole tissue of falsehoods which

had been woven about the Anian idea, but that it would teach that the true way

from Japan was by Cape Mendocino and whence might be brought to Sonora the

goods of the very rich galleons from the Philippines. Salvatierra was less

enthusiastic about the matter. The determination of peninsularity promised a

safe means of moving supplies between the missions already established and he

was satisfied to let it go at that. 




Father

Kino died among the Pimas in 1711 without having penetrated the promised land,

and in 1717 Salvatierra was also laid at rest. With their deaths the project of

the extension of Spanish dominion northward slumbered until 1747 when a royal

cedula sanctioned the reduction of the Californias on the exact plan of Kino,

the main feature of which was the entrance of the land above the head of the

Gulf of California by way of the desert of Arizona. Even at that late date the

idea of Anian had not wholly disappeared, for Michael Venegas in some notes on

California printed in (1757 is still found asking whether there was not a

chance that a strait might be discovered by some Englishman. He also expressed

apprehension of Russian designs and indorsed Kino's conception that the

integrity of Spanish rule in America demanded that "the missions must be

joined to the rest of New Mexico and extended from the latter beyond the rivers

Gila and Colorado to the furtherest known coasts of California and the South

Sea, to Puerto de San Diego, Puerto de Monterey, the Sierra Nevadas, Cape

Mendocino, Cape Blanco or San Sebastian and to the river discovered by Aquillar

in 43° north latitude." 




It was

reserved for the Franciscan order of missionary friars to carry out the

conception of Kino. The order had been established in Mexico since 1524, when

its advance guard of twelve sandal shod and wide sackcloth gowned brethren

presented themselves to Cortez and were graciously received by him. In 1761 the

inspector general of the order, Jose de Galvez, was sent to the province, and

at the same time Charles Francisco de Croix went as viceroy. Shortly after

their arrival they united in a dispatch to the king in which the desirability

of having Galvez visiting the Californias for the purpose of establishing in

them pueblos, and to regulate their government, was urged on the ground that

the remoteness of the peninsula from Sonora made it necessary to have a nearer

source of supplies. 




When

Galvez reached Lower California he found the religious part of the

establishment in charge of |Serra and his Franciscans, while the temporalities

were administered by Gasper de Portola, whose duty it had become on the 17th of

December 1767, to expel the Jesuits who had formerly been established there.

The condition of affairs reflected discredit on the management of the secular

arm. The licentious soldiery had spread disease among the natives, and the

population, which had once numbered 12,000 souls, had dwindled to a few more

than 7,000. Galvez sought to apply a remedy by restoring the temporalities to

the Franciscans and a return to the system of the mission. By these means he

hoped to wean the Indians from their nomadic habits and induce them to live in

the pueblos. 




Galvez's

project embraced the idea of effecting settlements, but the difficulties

attending the colonization of Spaniards were numerous. He sought to overcome

them by offering crown lands and military rights. Perhaps his plans of native

redemption could not have made progress without a resort to such concessions,

but they afterward proved a source of trouble and did much to destroy the

efforts of the padres to make good Christians of the Indians. It was through

the offers of this kind made in August 1768, that he was able to gather the

necessary party to form the expedition to Monterey conceived by him, which

received the prompt approval of the Viceroy de Croix, and which was

enthusiastically embraced by Father Junipero Serra, who was made president of

the California missions. 




Father

Serra is the most notable figure in the early history of California, and his

character merits attentive study. He was a man of great piety, a firm believer

in miracles and a wielder of the penitential scourge. He possessed in a preeminent

degree all those qualities which are attributed to those who receive the honor

of canonization from the Catholic church, but he was by no means deficient in

shrewdness or practical ability. Had he been born in another age or had he been

able to shake off the trammels of the; medieval system, he might have succeeded

in the task he set for himself of lifting up the wretched natives of the soil.

The union of a pure mind and ability might under other circumstances have

accomplished an aim which utterly failed because submerged by an idea which

completely subordinated the only instinct which has ever contributed greatly to

elevating a race in the scale of civilization. 




In 1768

Galvez de Croix and Serra met to discuss the method of attaining their object

of reaching Monterey. The details of two expeditions were gone over — one by

land and the other by sea. The latter, like most of the preceding maritime

explorations having for their object the establishment of a station in Alta

California, had an unfortunate experience. The vessels stored with supplies for

the voyage and articles that would be needed in the new ports which were to be

converted into missions sailed from La Paz on the 8th of January, 1769, Galvez

accompanying the party as far as Cape San Lucas where he bade farewell. The

little fleet did not reach San Diego until the following July, although the

good padre had reported that its sailing qualities were admirable, one of the

craft actually making six knots an hour in a moderate breeze. 




The plans

of the expedition were completely disarranged by the appearance of scurvy on

the ships, and it was recognized that if the purpose of occupying Monterey was

to be realized it must be reached by land as the crews were no longer in

condition to manipulate their craft. A party of 67 was formed which started

from San Diego on the 14th of July leaving behind at that place, Serra, Vila,

Vizcaino, some artisans and a number of sailors mostly ill. The work of

establishing a mission was at once inaugurated by Serra, who laid the

foundations of that of San Diego, the oldest in Alta California, on the 16th of

July. The records show that the activities of the good padre were called into

play at once, for the natives surrounding the new port who were under the influence

of the warlike Yumas soon became troublesome, and on the 15th of August made an

attack on the little establishment in which three of their number and a

Spaniard were killed and Father Vizcaino was disabled by an arrow which pierced

his hand. 




The

party which started overland was provided with notes of the results of the

former explorations, but depended principally upon a reprint of a manual which

placed the port of Monterey in 37° north latitude, and gave suggestions for

finding it which would prove more valuable to an expedition approaching from

the sea than to one seeking it by a land route. But as the explorers kept the

ocean in sight it was inevitable that perseverance should reveal the object of

their search. The itinerary of the party shows that it made its way past San

Clementa; that the Catalina Islands were kept in sight and that Los Angeles was

traversed. The San Fernando valley was passed through to the headwaters of the

Santa Clara, and from thence the river valley was followed to the sea. Point

Conception was touched, and from that the explorers made their way to the head

of the Santa Barbara channel. Leaving San Luis Obispo they kept along the coast

until the Sierra barred their way. They crossed the mountain and penetrated the

Salinas valley which they pursued to the sea, following the shore of which they

at length attained Point Pinos which their records told them was the

determining landmark of Monterey harbor. 




But

viewed from that side Monterey did not answer the description of those who had

eulogized it as a safe port. Portola, who headed the party, received the

impression, which he recorded, that it was no better than an open roadstead.

The rejoicings which the sight of the Point of Pines first occasioned were soon

converted to despondency, and after a week's rest, on October 8th the explorers

held a council which reached the resolution to again press forward. 




The

party thus far had met with no serious adventures. They had seen numerous

Indians, the males entirely naked, and they had noted with surprise and

admiration the skill of those living along the Santa Barbara channel in

handling their canoes, which were well constructed. They had killed some bears,

a sort of game very abundant, and had felt some earthquake shocks which they

set down in their records as "frightful," and had noted many things,

the knowledge of which might prove useful to them in the future work of

converting the Californias into a habitable country. The only evil results of

their journey was the appearance of scurvy which attacked several members of

the party. 




This

dread disease maintained its hold until the rains set in. When Portola and his

party took up their toilsome march after their disappointment at Point Pinos

the leader and Father Riviera were ill. The supply of food had run out, and

some of the men had to be borne in litters. But they pressed on and on November

1st they reached Point San Pedro, and from an eminence saw the Farallones and

the bay described by Cermeno, and recognized it as the locality in which the

"St. Augustin" had been wrecked. 




On the

day following, some soldiers of the party, headed by Ortega, while hunting for

deer climbed the headland of Point Reyes and suddenly came in sight of a large

body of water which he thought was an inland sea. The hunting party encountered

some Indians who informed them that a ship was lying at anchor at the head of

the newly discovered sea, and Ortega carried a report to that effect to

Portola. A search for the ship was made, but in vain, and on November 11th the

leader, convinced that Monterey had been passed in the fog, or that it had been

overwhelmed with sand started southward with his command, now seriously short

of rations. 




He

reached Point Pinos without identifying the bay as that described by Cermeno,

and on December 10th he erected two great commemoration crosses, one on the

shore of Carmello bay, and the other on the shore of the bay which he had

found, but failed to recognize; and on the ensuing day began retracing his

steps to San Diego which he reached on the 24th of January, 1770. In the

ensuing month Portola and Crespi reported the results of their adventure to the

Visitador. They were convinced that the belief in the existence of Monterey was

an illusion, and felicitated themselves upon dispelling it; but Crespi put a

bright side upon the fancied failure to discern the harbor of Cermeno by

pointing out that they "had found an actuality" in the inland sea

discovered by the hunters. 


















 





CHAPTER III. THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE MISSION OF ST.

FRANCIS 





THE

hunting party of 1769, and another which followed a year later, getting a

glimpse of the Bay of San Francisco, were under the impression that the body of

water seen by them was that which Cermeno had described. On a map which

accompanied the diary of the Portola journey it is called Estero de S.

Francisco, and the notes of Constanso treat it as an appurtenance of the

Cermeno bay. It was not, however, deemed impracticable to found a mission on

the shore of an estuary which might provide facilities for such intercourse as

would arise out of the project of reduction if successfully carried out. 




The idea

of bringing colonists who would effect a settlement was adhered to, and the

earlier suggestion of linking Monterey and Sonora was kept in mind, Portola's

failure to positively locate the bay not having the effect of completely

destroying faith in the existence of the "safe harbor," which had

been named after the Viceroy Comde de Monterey. It was not until 1774 that all

doubts respecting Monterey and the Bay of San Francisco were cleared away, and

steps taken to carry out the cherished desire of Father Serra to honor the

patron saint of his order by founding an establishment which was to take the

name of St. Francis. 




On the

9th of March 1774, a junta called by the viceroy decided that the port of San

Francisco should be occupied by Juan Bautista de Anza, and that communication

should be established between Sonora and the new foundation. Captain Anza had

originally purposed bringing about a connection between Monterey and Sonora,

and had started on January 8th from Tubac with that object in view, but in

accordance with the plans of the junta he prepared to march to San Francisco. 




The

expedition consisted of 40 soldiers and their families who were chosen from the

poverty-stricken districts of Northern Mexico. The appropriation made for the

party was a slender one amounting to only £1,927 pesos and two reals. Only

10,000 pesos were to be called for at first, and they were to come out of the

pious fund, a source of supply called into existence sometime previously to

provide the means for carrying on the work of converting the Indians in the

countries occupied by the Spanish. 




Anza's

journey was interrupted by a call for relief from San Diego which was menaced

by an Indian uprising. Riviera, who had induced Anza to assist in quieting the

unruly natives, tried to persuade him to abandon his expedition to the north.

He was very insistent that the "estuary" of San Francisco was not

adapted to the purpose which the junta desired to effect, and doubtless he was

convinced that the southern harbor would serve it much more admirably. 




But Anza

adhered to his instructions tenaciously and ended all discussion of the matter

by announcing that he was determined to find a suitable place; if one could not

be found at the mouth of the port he would go inland to where it seemed best to

him even if he had to go several leagues from the shore. Anza was very

confident that his efforts would be crowned with success and promised the

doubting San Diegan that he would bring back a phial of the water of the river

which had been seen by Fages in 1770, but which he did not follow to its mouth.






Anza,

after a short illness which detained him at San Carlos mission, started on

March 23rd for the supposed estuary. On the 5th of August, 1775, Lieutenant

Juan Manuel de Ayala of the royal navy had in the "San Carlos" passed

through the Golden Gate and had cast anchor in the harbor near an island named

by him Isla de Los Angeles, and in September the naval officer Bruno Heceta,

who was under orders to cooperate with Anza, landed and made his way to Point

Lobos, so it happened that when the captain finally arrived and on March 28,

1776, chose as a site for a fort the place where Fort Point is now situated the

waters of the bay were not wholly uncharted. 




On the

day following he selected a place on what we know as Mission bay, for a

mission. The calendar evidently suggested the name of Dolores which he gave it,

and the story that it was inspired by the sight of a weeping Indian woman may

be dismissed as one of the fantastic tales which the imaginative are always

ready to supply as substitutes for actualities which have no color of romance

or the unusual. 




When

Riviera received word at San Diego of the success of the exploration he changed

his attitude and sent instructions which authorized the establishment of a

presidio on a site selected by Anza, but he was slow about giving his sanction

to the mission project. He had been in collision with the padres over an Indian

who had sought sanctuary with the missionaries, and was strongly disposed to

resent their interference with the administration of justice by the secular end

of the San Diego establishment, and his hostility served for a time to

interfere with the accomplishment of the desires of the zealous Franciscans. 




Meanwhile,

however, the party at San Francisco went on with the work of getting the

presidio in habitable condition, and in June the padres Palou and Benito

Cambon, with the help of Cazinares,and the crew of the "San Carlos,"

which arrived from Monterey in August, the spot named by Anza was provided with

quarters, a chapel, commandantes' dwelling and a warehouse. These were

constructed of palisades with roofs of earth and were in readiness by the 17th

of September, and, despite the injunction of Riviera, who did not finally

withdraw his opposition until the following November, after the establishment

had been formally dedicated and named the Mission St. Francis de Asis. 




Riviera,

whose opposition was attributed to jealousy of Anza, under vice-royal pressure

gave his approval on the 9th of October to the new mission, which was the sixth

founded in Alta California. The obstacles placed by him in the way of the

foundation were a forerunner of the clashings which occurred at various times

between the spiritual and temporal authorities in California, and which have

been put forward by many writers in explanation of the failure to accomplish

any really beneficial results, of either a religious or material character,

while the Spaniards and their immediate successors ruled the destinies of the

vast region which afterward came into the possession of the United States. The

story when unfolded will disclose that while the conflicts often produced lack

of harmony, the real cause of the absolute stagnation which endured during the

years between 1776 and 1816 was the complete disregard of economic laws. 




It was

not until the 10th of October 1777, that Serra beheld the mission with which

his name has been associated, and which to him seemed the key of the whole

system he so laboriously sought to build up, and the establishment of which was

followed by the creation of similar nuclei until Alta California had within its

boundaries a chain of houses of the order of which he was president, numbering

eighteen. 




They

stretched from San Diego on the south, and in nearly every instance hugged the

sea. They were named San Diego, Santa Barbara, San Juan Capistrano, San

Buenaventura, Santa Cruz, San Luis Rey, La Purissima Concepcion, San Jose, San

Carlos and San Francisco. The inland establishments were those of San Gabriel,

San Fernando, San Luis Obispo, San Antonio, San Juan Bautista and Santa Clara,

and they were near enough to salt water to be always reminded of its existence.

Only two, those of Soledad and San Miguel were at all remote from the ocean,

and they can only be said to have been so relatively. 




A study

of the inspiring causes leaves one in doubt as to the real desires of the

authorities in Spain in countenancing the establishment of the missions, or

whether they ever had any well-defined aspirations. The extension of dominion

appears to have been at the bottom of all the sanctions, but the absolute

indifference to material advancement, so conspicuously displayed after

settlements had been effected, indicate beyond the possibility of doubt that

there was no conception of the results that might be achieved by the

development of the resources of a region of extraordinary fertility, and there

is reason to believe that very few in Madrid or in Mexico City had any real

knowledge of what might be done in California by the exercise of industry,

intelligently directed. 




The dry

rot of medievalism which had possession of Spain like a cancerous sore,

promptly spread through Mexico into the virgin country, and even after the

zealous missionaries had by their exertions succeeded in effecting what seemed

like a fair start, its destructive progress was not arrested. Practically

little more was accomplished between the seventy years of mission and mixed

temporal and spiritual rule than had been achieved during the century when

California lay wholly neglected by those who claimed it. but only thought of

the vast region with its more than a thousand miles of sea coast, because in

the indentations of the latter there might be found a harbor of refuge or

station for the vessels engaged in a trade, which by comparison with that since

developed in the disregarded territory was ridiculously insignificant. 




There

are days when more ships sail out of the port of San Francisco than would have

made it their station in ten years when the Philippine trade of Spain was at

its best. The proud galleons of which so much that is picturesque has been

written made annual sailings, and the goods and treasures in their holds, if

the statistics were attainable, would make a sorry showing by the side of the

tables of exports and imports of the metropolis of the Pacific coast, and there

is no reason for believing that the conditions which produced the frame of mind

that led men to think that the main function of a great harbor on the northern

coast of Alta California, had they endured, would have permitted any

improvement of the results secured between 1776 and 1846. 




Twenty

years after the establishment of the Mission of St. Francis impatient critics

declared that not in centuries would the Indians be fitted for the pursuits of

civilization while remaining under the tutelage of the missionaries, and the

results of the system justified the criticism. It was unquestionably founded on

the erroneous assumption that the Indian is incapable of being lifted in the

scale of civilization, but it was undoubtedly correct so far as it assumed that

religious methods would not suffice to make the native an industrious member of

society. 




Indians

have been redeemed and made tolerable citizens in this country, and have

acquired fair concepts of morals and religion, but the result has been achieved

by indirection. Like more intelligent beings whose acquirements are the product

of a long evolutionary period, the red man did not find it possible to

industriously toil for a reward in the hereafter. This apparently was all that

the good padres had to offer the Indians, who could not be made to believe that

the privilege of toiling in the fields and praying in the churches was a

desirable exchange for the liberty they had enjoyed before they were dragged

into the fold. 




But

failure does not detract from the fact that Serra and his associates were

animated by the highest of motives in the pursuit of their self-imposed mission

of redemption. Their zeal, benevolence and integrity is unquestioned, and if

instances can be cited which show that sometimes a padre subordinated the

spiritual to the material, they must be taken as exceptions which prove the

rule that they were a devoted band of men ready to sacrifice their lives to

pluck brands from the burning. 




If their

failure unduly impresses the reader, as it has some critics, animated by

sectarian prejudice, they will be wise ^ to modify their impression by

attempting to measure against the performances of the padres the poor results

achieved by some of their countrymen, who were inspired by more worldly

motives. It must be remembered that the government had no other object in

weakly supporting the Franciscans than to thwart the Russians, whose

encroachments about the time of the establishment of San Francisco had become a

source of alarm. 




The

desire for a station had long since abated, the trade which gave birth to it

having diminished to proportions that made it no longer an object for continued

governmental concern. If it were not for the desire to maintain dominion, which

had become a tradition rather than a vital policy the arguments brought against

the establishment of missions in Upper California by the Jesuits must have

prevailed. They urged that the distance of Monterey from the peninsula, the

perils of navigation, the necessity of maintaining considerable bodies of

soldiery at the presidios, the known bad character of the Indians, who, even

Serra was compelled to admit, were great thieves, and the uncertainty

concerning their docility, all pointed to the hopelessness of the task of reducing

the country, unless God should interpose with a miracle. 




These

views were by no means confined to the followers of St. Ignatius; they were

shared by not a few of the padres of the peninsula missions, who did not

hesitate to voice them, but Serra was confident that the miracle would be

worked, and he believed that it was his duty to act as the human instrument for

its performance. He did not, however, expect the miraculous intervention to

take the form of providing manna for the wanderers in the wilderness, and in

all his actions subsequent to the conclusion reached at the conference he

comported himself as a practical man and constantly kept in mind the fact that

the blessings of Providence are only conferred upon those who exert themselves

to obtain them. 




In his

subsequent administrations of the affairs of the missions he exhibited as much

sagacity as he did patience of the kind which is only attained by those who set

out to perform great undertakings filled with foreseen obstacles, which they

think may be overcome by persevering in a lofty resolution which refused to

recognize any other possibility than success. 




It has

been pointed out that in their zeal to win over the natives the padres made

promises which they were not able to redeem, and that their desire to impress

on the neophytes the grandeur and importance of the King of Spain aroused

expectations of gifts that never materialized. There is no reason to discredit

these representations. The imagery of religion finds expression in language easily

misapprehended by the ignorant and untutored, who are too apt to take literally

stories about golden streets and pearly gates. 




There is

nothing surprising therefore in the recitals of discontent with which the

comparatively brief annals of the mission days are filled, nor need we wonder

that the neophytes, who at least were reasonably sure of getting enough to eat

while they remained amenable, should envy the gentile Indians who roamed at

will and preferred their liberty, even though it was often accompanied by

hunger that not infrequently became starvation. What the padres gave them in

exchange for their days of toil could hardly have been regarded by them as an

adequate compensation. The benefits on the material side were too slight to be

accepted by people as low in the scale of civilization as the California

Indian. 


















 





THE MISSION PERIOD 1776-1846 






CHAPTER IV.

RESULT OF THE LABORS OF THE MISSIONARIES 




JUNIPERO

SERRA died at Monterey August 28, 1784, eight years after the foundation of the

Mission of San Francisco. His last moments were spent on a bed of planks and he

passed away mourned by all who knew him. When his body was carried to the grave

it was covered with roses by Caballero and Indians, all of whom regarded him as

a saint. His ministration was not without worries. There were rumors of the

intended displacement of the Franciscans by the Dominicans forced on his

attention, and while he was almost destitute of worldly mindedness he could not

help being disturbed by intimations which appeared to discredit his work by

reflecting on his order. 




The

padre deserved something better than an exhibition of ingratitude of this sort,

for within the limitations imposed upon him he had accomplished more than could

reasonably be expected. The human material with which he had to deal was of the

poorest. The aptitude of the Spanish for colonization was never of the highest

order, and those of them who engaged in it were rarely the best of their race.

The most of them were disposed to look to the world to furnish them a living

without exertion, and the tendency was called into constant play when they came

in contact with a race regarded by them as inferior. And their ignorance fully

matched their inertness. 




Whatever

was produced within the limits of the mission establishments was due to the

foresight and energy of the padres, who had to look after the physical as well

as the moral welfare of the gente de razon and of the neophytes. The

most of the former and all of the latter were incapable of taking care of themselves.

Under such circumstances, and with such responsibilities devolving upon them,

it would have been little short of miraculous if the padres, when some degree

of prosperity attended their efforts, should not have assumed autocratic airs.

There is no trace, however, of any such disposition in the conduct of Serra,

under whose guidance the Mission of San Francisco, which at the time of

foundation numbered a few more than eight hundred souls, including the

converted Indians, had increased its population and fortunes considerably

before his death. 




The

despotic tendency came later and was not always in the ratio of the growth of

prosperity which was not rapid. The soldiers of the presidios were not

permitted to marry without the consent of the crown, and the policy of granting

lands, which afterward became so liberal, was very restricted in the beginning.

Doubtless both of these restrictions harmonized with the wishes of the padres,

who, if they did not actually urge them, must have regarded them as facilitating

their desires to bring into the fold the Indians, which was the main purpose of

the establishment of the missions so far as they were concerned, although they

worked in harmony with the higher authorities who more particularly had the

aggrandizement of Spain and the preservation of the integrity of its territory

in mind. 




The

pursuit of a policy almost wholly governed by considerations for the welfare of

the souls of the Indians necessarily proved an obstacle to development. It must

have done so, had it prevailed, even though the Spaniard had been endowed with

the colonizing instinct; for its natural effect must have been to deter

enterprise of an individual sort which could not possibly have succeeded in

competition with the mission establishments, which were tolerably well equipped

for the operations which they chose to engage in, and in addition were armed

with the power to command the labor of the neophytes for the common good. 




The

possession of this power by the padres fully explains the failure of the

territory in which they controlled to develop. There is no reason to question

the judgment of early travelers who have recorded their opinion that the padres

through experience soon became fairly competent business men, and managed the

properties under their care in a fashion which, measured by individualistic

standards, must have been regarded as satisfactory for thirty or forty years.

That is to say, the inventories of the missions at succeeding periods showed

what would be considered gratifying increases. The herds and flocks grew larger

year by year, and the quantities of the cereals and other products of the soil

were steadily being enlarged, but; there was nothing even remotely resembling

the expansion witnessed in other parts of the continent, where Nature had been

much less generous than in California. 




The

assumption that the system adopted by the padres in dealing with the Indians

was at the bottom of the total lack of progress is not far-fetched. It is

supported by the observed experiences of other countries in which the chief

dependence was placed on servile labor for industrial development. Although the

native Indians of California were not nominally slaves, they were so in fact.

It was not the intention of the government to enslave them. Indeed the Spaniard

may be credited with the intention to make good citizens of the natives, the

theory evidently being that they could be educated sufficiently to realize the

importance of citizenship and then be gathered into municipalities. 




This

purpose implies that those highest in authority regarded the missions as

temporary affairs to be supplanted by civil establishments when the suitable

moment for the change arrived. It is not apparent, however, that the padres

viewed their duties in this light. They were by no means disposed to

subordinate the business of saving souls to the doubtful occupation of

preparing very poor material for a future state in which religious restraint

would be relaxed and the results of their zeal and energies be dissipated. 




The

instructions of Jose de Galvez, under which the original missions were

established, and various decrees of the Spanish government, clearly

foreshadowed the policy of secularization which was later effected; but there

is no evidence that the padres at any time sought to conform their work to the

speedy realization of the idea. On the contrary, from the beginning, they

persistently managed affairs so that, unless forcible interference were

interposed, the system of elevating the care of the souls of their charges to

the first place would be indefinitely perpetuated. 




It was

inevitable that the purpose of the missionaries, when combined with the power

to carry it out, should have produced the result witnessed. The primary object

being to save the soul of the Indian, he was regarded from the moment of his

baptism as one who had taken a vow which was irrevocable. If after the ceremony

he ran away, soldiers were sent in pursuit, and when he was brought back he was

punished with lashes. 




The

testimony regarding the treatment of the Indians does not imply that they were

cruelly dealt with as a rule by the padres. There is distinct evidence to the

contrary furnished by impartial observers, and some from sources which might

fairly be considered as prejudiced. Vancouver, for instance, spoke of the

fathers as "mild and kind hearted, and never failing to attract the

affections of the natives," but he noted with astonishment that they

appeared to derive few advantages from their conversion. De Mofras, another observer,

declared that the missionaries had accomplished magnificent results by the

exercise of benevolence, and among the accomplishments he enumerated the

teaching of the advantages of labor to the Indians. 




That the

Englishman was the best judge of the two was developed in the fullness of time.

The Indians of California never realized the benefits of labor, because the

system did not permit them to obtain any just reward for their toil. They were

serfs under the most benevolent of the padres and remained so after the Mexican

revolution, the change made in their condition by the process of secularization

being merely nominal. 




Reviewing

all the evidence we have concerning the Indians of California, it does not seem

so surprising that the Franciscans should have thought them capable of

redemption, but it is astonishing that men of discernment and abundant

opportunities to observe, should have believed in the possibility of their

being evolved into suitable material for citizenship. The possession of such a

belief indicates an optimism defiant of long experience. 




While

the earlier acquaintance of the Spaniard with the Indians of California was not

entirely reassuring on the point of his docility, he exhibited some

characteristics which to the observant padres seemed to promise tractability.

The troubles in San Diego which occurred before the Mission of St. Francis was

founded were easily traced to the inspiration of the warlike Yumas, and it was

justly inferred that if the tribes immediately surrounding the Bay of San Diego

had not been instigated to make trouble they would have cheerfully put up with

the strangers who had invaded their country. 




The

experiences of the explorers when in search of Monterey amply confirmed this

opinion. Few signs of hostility were displayed, and there were numerous

instances of exhibitions of the opposite feeling. There was no evidence of the

existence of intercommunication, nor of the qualities which the romancing

recorder of the exploits of the buccaneer Sir Francis Drake discovered when he

landed on the shores of the bay north of the entrance of San Francisco harbor. 




If

Portola and his party found any sceptered kings with crowns, who were

accompanied by cabinet ministers who made displays of oratory, they maintained

a discreet silence respecting them. They, and other parties of Spaniards who

penetrated further into the interior than Drake, who appears to have had no

desire to do more than effect a landing, found no natives with bags of tobacco,

nor did they discover that "the country seemed to promise rich veins of

gold and silver, some of the ore being constantly found in digging." From

their relations there is no possibility of assuming otherwise than that the

Indians throughout the length and breadth of the wide area over which they

roamed were nearly all of one kind, and that the stage of their development was

as low in the scale as could possibly be conceived. 




Those

who knew them best declare that they ranked lower in intelligence than

Hottentots or the aborigines of Australia. They were as lazy as they were

feeble minded and when pressed by famine easily fell into cannibalism. They had

no religion, and even lacked imagination sufficient to form definite

superstitions. It is related of the more virile Indians of other parts of the

North American continent that they had some conception of a great spirit, but

that they never even attained to the intellectual height of originating a

creation myth. Some authorities have insisted that the Californian Indian

reached that stage, but Father Ubach of San Diego, whose ministrations in that

place were continued long after the occupation, and whose intercourse with

Indians of that county was intimate, expressed the belief that there is no

authenticated instance of a California Indian having formed a distinct

religious concept without suggestion from the outside. 




Their

sexual relations knew no restraint. They had no form of marriage. The

missionaries found an instance of an Indian cohabiting with his mother and

three sisters. They were without fixed abodes and roamed over a large territory

in search of small game, which existed in great abundance, but they lacked the

courage to attack bear or elk and the prevision to preserve meat, although

throughout most parts of California that can be done by the simple process of

drying. As a consequence they were visited by periodical famines which

prevented their numbers enlarging. 




The

Indians living near the Mission of St. Francis differed in no essential

particular from those of other parts of Upper California, and there is no

reason to believe that they had any warlike qualities, although they were

frequently hunted down by the Spaniards living about the Bay of San Francisco,

who professed to fear them. In a manuscript left by an American who lived near

Ripon in San Joaquin county the statement is made that the Indians in that

region never hunted .my big game. The section abounded in large animals, but no

bones of those of any size were ever seen in their mounds. They evidently

subsisted almost entirely on pine nuts, manzanita and other berries, Indian

turnips and a varied assortment of acorns which they ground in metates, or

large stones hollowed so as to facilitate the operation of crushing with a rude

pestle. 




During

inclement weather these Indians lived in caves in the neighborhood. The

indications point to the probability of the group or tribe never exceeding

thirty in number. When Dr. Marsh, who settled near them, arrived in 1835, they

had dwindled to less than a dozen. At that time, they had scarcely any covering

for their bodies, and were still living in the caves, having no other

habitation. They acknowledged or knew of no government other than their tribal

head and had finally to be removed to the foothills of what is now Calaveras

county, because they developed the habit of killing the cattle of settlers.

Outside of this group or tribe the writer of the manuscript asserts there were

no other Indians in all the section between Mount Diablo and the Sierra. 




It was

this unpromising material that the missionaries were called upon to deal with,

and it is less astonishing to learn that they had their labor for their pains

than it would be to find evidence that they even remotely approached the

accomplishment of their object. That they effected something which indulgent

observers were inclined to praise must be conceded, but that it was in any wise

commensurate with their hopes, or that their efforts could have succeeded, even

if they had met with none of the obstacles which they severely deprecated

because they regarded them as hindrances to the work of conversion, is not

thinkable. 




As

already stated the underlying purpose of the padres, so far as the making of

the Indian into a useful member of society was concerned, was to teach him to

till the soil. Other nomads, by the evolutionary process, managed to attain the

stage of civilization which cultivation represents, and in the process they

acquired a knowledge of some of the other useful arts. It is not strange, therefore,

that the California Indians, when induced by promises of presents and hopes of

salvation to embrace Christianity, attained to some degree of aptitude in the

pursuit of agriculture. 




The

statistics of the missions, however, indicate that the proficiency was not, of

the sort dependable except when exercised under direction and the closest sort

of supervision, which in accordance with the spirit of the age was usually

accompanied by the use of the lash and other forms of punishment. Thus it

happened that the exemplary regulations which were carefully devised for the

government of the Indians in the Spanish dominion, although they expressly

forbade slavery, easily lent themselves to a system which had all the vices of

legal bondage and often evaded its obligations. 




Thus it

was prescribed that no Indian might live outside his village, and to preserve

him from contamination, it was ordered that no lay Spaniard might live in an

Indian village. The latter could not even tarry overnight unless he were ill, and

if he were a trader his stay was limited to three days or nights at the utmost.

When these regulations were first established it was represented that the

Indians would not work for wages, and that some expedient would have to be

resorted to in order to keep them in touch with the Spaniard, so that the great

object of converting them to Christianity might be achieved. As their Catholic

majesties, Ferdinand and Isabella, and their successors would not countenance

nominal slavery, a method was devised which had many of the features of the

feudal system of the middle ages, and it is not remarkable that its application

should have produced the same results as those witnessed in Europe between the

sixth and fifteenth centuries, during which enterprise languished and

population remained stationary. 




It would

be interesting to trace the resemblances in this new world feudal system to

that of the mediaeval period, but a history of San Francisco is more concerned

with the results of its application by the missionaries than it is to trace its

origins and describe its similarities. The modern reader, whose interest in the

mission system is mainly confined to the ascertainment of the net results of

the efforts of the padres, may relegate the solution of the problem whether it

is wise to subordinate the spiritual to the material in the management of

worldly affairs to the writers on sociology. There is plenty of suggestive

matter in a mere recital of undisputed facts, and expending many words in the

discussion of the causes would be a work of supererogation in this connection.

Natives Melt The chief thing we are concerned to know is, what did the padres

succeed in 




doing

with the laboring material at their command, which was almost wholly composed

of natives, the Spanish colonists being even less favorably disposed to toil

than the neophytes? The answer might easily be compressed into the statement

that the benevolence of the padres was almost as fatal to the Indian as the

grasping avarice of the settlers on the other side of the continent, who made

little attempt at concealment of their design to take over the red man's

heritage on their own terms. 




In both

cases the native melted away before the advance of the whites as the snow does

when kissed by the ardent beams of the sun. But there was this essential

difference in the two processes of the extinction of the native: In the region

bordering on the Atlantic the extermination of the Indian might be attributed

to the crowding-out process. The disappearance of the natives of the East made

way for innumerable white successors who usurped their places; on the Pacific

coast the Indian was displaced, and during the prevalence of the mission system

the most fertile section of the continent scarcely maintained as many

inhabitants as were contained in it before the advent of the missionaries. 


















 





CHAPTER V. THE UNPRACTICAL CHARACTER OF THE

MISSIONARIES 





ALTHOUGH

.the long search for a safe harbor on the northern coast of California in its

inception was prompted by trade considerations, it is a singular fact that when

the Bay of San Francisco was finally discovered, and after its discoverers had

apparently awakened to a full realization of its value for commercial purposes,

no effort was made by those who controlled its destinies to utilize its

advantages. The only evidence of concern in this connection that, we have is

contained in actions and expressions showing the haunting fear of the Spaniard

that some other nation might possibly attempt to make use of that which he

neglected. 




As for

the missionaries, their efforts were concentrated on the saving of souls, and

such material affairs as engaged their attention almost excluded the idea of

trade. The application of feudal methods was fatal to domestic trade, and such

foreign commerce as was developed during the seventy years between the founding

of the Mission St. Francis and the American occupation was in response to a

demand for things which they recognized their inability to produce, rather than

to the desire for gain. The exchange of hides and tallow for the articles

brought to the coast by adventurous traders approached no nearer to true trade,

profitable to both parties, than that of the Indian ready to swap a handful of

gold dust for a few glass beads. 




The

padres made no efforts to promote domestic intercourse with a view to

encouraging trade, and the authorities, influenced by the jealousy of

foreigners, placed every possible obstacle in the way of maritime communication

for that purpose. Thus it happened that during the greater part of a century

after 1776 the Bay of San Francisco, with all its superior advantages, remained

as useless to mankind as though it had never been discovered. The missionaries

devoted themselves exclusively, so far as physical effort was concerned, to the

cultivation of the soil. That the results are not worthy of admiration is

proved by the fact that in a country which has since been shown to have the

capacity to feed millions the scant population of their period was sometimes

compelled to endure the pangs of hunger. 




Statistical

presentations of the conditions existing in the mission days, unless carefully

analyzed, are misleading. Unless they are studied by the light of the

accomplishments of later days they must necessarily produce an erroneous

impression. When we learn from the inventories of the missions that at such a

time so many bushels of this, that or the other product was raised in their

establishments, and that their flocks and herds were on many hills, visions of

plenty arise, but they are disputed by the facts which show that the general

condition of the sparse population was wretched and that even the forward ones

lived lives which bordered closely on squalor. 




As early

as 1784 we are told that it had been found necessary to reduce by slaughter the

surplus cattle at the San Francisco presidio. The number of horses became so

great that some years later they were killed by tens of thousands. They roamed

at large and many of them became the prey of wolves and bears, and others were

mired in lagoons and marshes. Statements of this sort, accompanied by figures

showing that there had been a gain in the production of livestock in all the

missions of California between 1800 and 1810 of 162,882 head, and that the

agricultural products had increased, 113,625 bushels, convey the impression of

great prosperity, but the secular authorities were under no illusions regarding

the situation, and we find them expressing the opinion that the missions of

Alta California were little better than expensive failures. 




They

were not merely expensive failures; they were worse. The vital statistics with

startling brevity express the true condition. At the end of 1800 the death rate

of the natives had been 50 per cent of baptisms; in 1810 it was 72 per cent and

a few years later 86 per cent. In 1810 President Payeras had declared that at

Purisima nearly all Indian mothers gave birth to dead infants, and in 1815 it

was reported throughout the province that the proportion of deaths to births

had for many years been as three to two. 




Governor

Sola, in reviewing the condition of the Indians in the last named year

pronounced them "indolent and disregardful of all authority, costing for

half a century millions of pesos without having made at that time any

recompense to the body politic." He declared that they had become spoiled

by settling at the missions, and that though instructed in agriculture and

other branches, "they are able to but cover half of their bodies."

This summing up of results leaves us to infer that the Indian communities were

actually in worse condition than when Serra first came in contact with the

natives of San Diego and found their womankind "so honestly covered that

we could take it in good part if greater nudities were never seen among the

Christian women of the mission." 




The

Indians, however, were in no worse case than the soldiers of the garrison. In

1817 Commandante Luis Arguello at San Francisco begged Sola for clothing for

his own family and a little later a Yankee trader, James Smith Wilcox, urged an

excuse for smuggling that he had thereby served "to clothe the naked

soldiers of the king of Spain," thus enabling them to attend mass which

otherwise they could not do for lack of raiment. This apology for infractions

of the revenue laws was frequently invoked, and apparently freely accepted by

officials of the crown, who were aware that unless the stranger was permitted

to provide, the subjects of the king would have to go unprovided. 




It is

difficult to conceive of such utter incapacity as these revelations disclose.

In 1825, an inventory of the property of the Mission Dolores was made which

showed that there were 76,000 homed cattle, 950 horses, 2,000 mares, 84 steeds,

820 mules, 79,000 sheep, 2,000 hogs and 456 working oxen belonging to the

establishment. It may be true as asserted that the quality of the wool supplied

by the sheep was of an inferior character, and that the breeds of the animals

were of the poorest, but that fact hardly explains the destitution commented

upon. The poorest of wool may be spun and woven into garments, and the hides of

the most wretched cattle may be tanned and made into good leather. But the

processes of converting the raw materials into products suitable for apparel

demanded exertion and some skill, neither of which were forthcoming, hence

Indians, soldiers and all went naked or ragged. 




When

Dana visited California in 1835 he found that the people who were able to

exchange their surplus products for articles brought by Yankee traders were

ready to buy a bad wine made in Boston. The vagaries of the consumers of the

juice of the grape might explain the purchase of a foreign kind of wine, but

in, this instance appreciation of the Massachusetts vintage is not urged. The

idle and thriftless population made no wine although the country abounded in

grapes and it was therefore Boston wine or none at all. 




That the

padres produced some wine is undoubtedly true, but it was evidently retained

for their own consumption. There does not appear at any time to have been a

strong desire on their part to lessen the demand for the fiery alcoholic

beverage known as aguardiente, by supplying a light and wholesome substitute by

expressing the juice of the native grape or that of the variety introduced by

them from Spain, and which has long been familiarly known as the California

mission grape. 




That the

instructions given by the padres were not of a character to make good

agriculturists of the neophytes may be inferred from the statements made by

many observers. In preparing the soil for grain the earth was simply scratched

with a heavy timber pointed with iron if the metal was obtainable. This

wretched substitute for a plow was dragged by oxen who pulled against a yoke

attached to their horns, the belief being that the strength of the animal lay

in that part of its body. Later the Yankee trader came to their assistance with

a share of more modern fashion, but even with this help the results were not of

the sort to command admiration. 




In 1839,

seventy years after the foundation of the San Diego mission, which enjoys the

distinction of being the first establishment of the padres in Upper California,

the total product of all the missions of California was hardly equal to that of

a good sized American farm of the present day. Of wheat, maize, barley, beans

and peas there was a total output of 14,438 quarters in the year mentioned. Of

livestock, which took care of itself, there were over 400,000 head of all

kinds, the number being made up of 216,727 black cattle, 32,201 horses, 2,844

mules, 153,455 sheep, the remainder being asses, goats and swine. 




It is

true that the operations of the missionaries had been interrupted before this

date by the secularization of the establishments, but it would do violence to

the probabilities to assume that any better showing would have been made had

there been no interference with the methods of the padres. The tremendous

inroads of disease, and the great falling off of the birth rate pointed to the

speedy extinction of the supply of native labor, and indolence and incapacity

of the colonists from Mexico, and the absolute refusal of the soldiery to

engage in useful occupations precluded the idea of any substantial assistance

from any other source. 




Although

the missionaries failed to transform the Indians into a dependable laboring

element, their activities had an unlooked for effect which produced much

subsequent trouble. The native Californian in appearance and manner encouraged

the impression that he was made of docile stuff, but his frequent quarrels with

his own kind should have suggested that the tractability which sometimes

manifested itself was more apparent than real. Before the neophytes were

gathered and kept within the mission precincts they had lived in small

rancherias and there was no friendly contact between them. When associated

together their attitude of hostility was awakened, and acquaintance soon

developed something like organizing ability and a desire to act in common

against the oppressor. 




How much

this attitude affected their efficiency in the fields it would be difficult to

decide, but it is evident that it must have militated against cheerful

acceptance of the condition imposed upon them by the padres. The troubles which

occurred after the missions were shorn of most of their privileges indicate

that the exemption from uprisings was due more to the skillful management of

the priests than the docility of the natives, or to their acceptance of the

teachings of Christianity. 




That the

missionaries could have succeeded in changing the habits of the native

Californian by the swift process of religious conversion was believed by many,

but it hardly admits of a doubt that the tendency to conspire which propinquity

had developed among the Indians must have ultimately defeated the purposes of

the missionaries no matter how zealously or intelligently they may have

labored. About their zeal there can be no question. The most, if not all of the

padres, had an earnest desire to recover the souls of the benighted natives,

but that they went intelligently about their work is disproved by the meager

results of their exertions. 




In addition

to the poor showing of the inventories of the missions they left to California

nothing to felicitate itself upon excepting a style of architecture which has

many claims to distinctiveness. The remains of this talent have probably

contributed more to the mistaken belief held by some that the padres were

really efficient directors than any written record of their accomplishments or

traditions concerning their doings. It is difficult to contemplate the ruins of

the missions of California without investing them with a romantic interest.

They are suggestive of a condition which never really existed. Their

appearance, even in their present ruinous state, conveys an impression of peace

and plenty that is no more truthful than the description of a baronial hall of

the middle ages, in which the stress is laid on the barbarous feasting and

rioting, while allusions to the poverty of the wretched serfs surrounding it is

carefully suppressed. 




It might

almost be inferred from the work expended in the construction of the mission

buildings that the energies and talents of the monks were chiefly expended upon

them. That the most of them would not have regarded this as an aspersion is

undoubtedly true. They imagined that they were working for the glory of God,

and strove in the manner which has always been considered most effective to

accomplish their object. They were merely repeating in the new world the

mistake made in the old during the Middle Ages, of subordinating the temporal

to the spiritual. They fervently believed that the best thing that could be

done for mankind was to wean it from the desire for worldly things, by

concentrating thought on the future life, and deferring hope of reward until

attained in an eternity of bliss. 




Unfortunately,

man is too easily encouraged to exchange activity of a kind which accomplishes

material results for the more peaceful and less troublesome occupation of

laying up treasures in heaven. And unless the colonists of the mission period

are greatly maligned their disposition was such that it naturally lent itself

to easy acquiescence in the belief that it is not worthwhile to exert oneself

here below to pile up riches. People in this frame of mind find no difficulty

in accepting conditions that would be regarded as unendurable by those less

inclined to religious domination. Hence we find that during the entire mission

period individual exertion was at a minimum stage, and the only noteworthy

accomplishments were those of the monks who were able to effect them

cooperatively with the assistance of a system of labor that was slavery in

everything but name. 




Throughout

the length and breadth of the vast territory comprised within the boundaries of

Alta California there was not a single structure outside of the religious

establishments, that any early traveler thought worth noting. We have plenty of

accounts which enable us to picture the mode of life of the gente de razon,

but the descriptions of their abodes is one which leaves an impression of

simplicity which borders closely on actual squalor. What wealth there was did

not lend itself to ostentation of the kind we are familiar with. A man of the

period might have been rich in lands, and may have possessed great herds of

cattle, and flocks of sheep and was looked up to on that account, but he lived

little better, so far as mere housing was concerned, than his poorest neighbor.






That

this state of affairs was not wholly due to the friars, although it may be

traced to the belief in the undesirability of mundane things which their

predecessors had inculcated during centuries, and which they still taught, may

be inferred from the fact that no more progress was made after secularization

than before that event. Indeed, if anything, there was less energy displayed

after the temporalities had displaced the spiritual than during most of the

time between the founding of the Mission Dolores and the successful revolution

in Mexico which reduced the influence of the padres to a negligible quantity.

And it is a singular circumstance, worth noting in this connection, that the

earlier settlers who found their way into the country and allied themselves

with the native Californians, did not add greatly to the enterprising character

of those with whom they took up their home. As a rule they were absorbed and speedily

adopted the indolent habits and the acquiescent attitude of the colonists of

Spanish extraction. 




It will

not be difficult to understand why Englishmen, Scotchmen and Americans who

found their way into California before 1846 adopted the unenterprising habits

of the natives. The acceptance of manaña, or to-morrow, as a rule of life comes

easy to most men, and when to the natural disposition to accept the plan of

moving along the line of least resistance there was added the excuse that a

fatuous system of trade restriction made enterprise almost impossible, it is

not surprising that few escaped its seductive influence. 




Both by

design and the acceptance of conditions, the inhabitants of California during

the entire period of Spanish and Mexican rule were confined to agricultural and

pastoral pursuits; and as the latter required the least exertion they were most

favored. Agriculture of the kind which proves profitable to those engaging in

it had few attractions for the gente de razon even when they could command

Indian labor, and ceased to have any at all when serfdom was practically

abolished. As for manufactures they were nonexistent, for at no time, even

during the most flourishing days of the missions had the natives succeeded in

developing enough skill to advance beyond the primitive stage. 




Necessarily

a country in which agriculture was neglected, and manufacturing was confined to

the production of things absolutely needed, and the fashioning of which

required little or no art, could not develop a domestic trade. Consequently,

there was little or no intercourse such as that which the interchange of

commodities brings about. Every ranch was self-sufficing. If its owners were

opulent enough to maintain a smith or a carpenter, the proprietor and his dependents

were provided after a fashion with the articles produced by artisans of that

sort, but most of the time they did without tools and things which an American

frontiersman would regard as indispensable to the carrying on of farming

operations of the simplest character. 




The only

approach to anything resembling real trade was that witnessed when a vessel

from some foreign land touched at the ports which the jealous Spaniards and

Mexicans permitted the stranger to visit. On those occasions the exchanges were

made under such restrictions, and so many obstacles were placed in the way of

freedom of intercourse that any considerable development was rendered

impossible. This interference which might have stimulated a more energetic

people than the native Californians, and the colonists, to exert themselves to

provide by their own efforts that which a fatuous government prohibited them

from buying from foreigners, did not result in the creation of a home industry

of any kind. The doctrine of the beauty of contentment was ingrained, and

resignation to deprivation was elevated into a virtue and ambition, except of

the sort that manifested itself in aspiration for petty political favors was

wholly extinguished. 


















 





CHAPTER VI. SPANISH DISCOURAGEMENT OF RELATIONS WITH OUTSIDERS 





NOTHING

could more plainly reveal the utterly uncommercial character of the Spanish

than their mode of dealing with the port of San Francisco. For a couple of

centuries, a harbor was sought for with varying degrees of diligence and when

it was finally found no more use was made of it than if it were nonexistent. It

cannot be said that the discoverers were unacquainted with its advantages, or

that they failed to make the authorities in Mexico and Spain acquainted with

them, but there interest in the matter and desire terminated. 




As early

as 1772, four years before the foundation of the Mission Dolores, Verger wrote

a letter in which he outlined the uses to which a good harbor could be put. He

was under a misapprehension concerning the river which he described as flowing

into the bay, and which he thought might be connected with the Colorado, but he

was under no illusions regarding the possibility of establishing a port in

which there could be ship yards and other facilities that would be easy to provide

on account of the abundance of timber of a suitable sort for building boats and

other vessels. He had an intimate knowledge of the foibles of his countrymen,

which made him suspect that something more than a mere recital of advantages

was necessary to stimulate them to exertion for he told Casafonda, to whom he

sent his description, that "great prejudice to the crown of Spain must be

feared should some foreign nation establish themselves in this port." 




The

suggestion that someone else might utilize the bay if the Spanish did not was

heeded in a way. It was taken possession of by the crown, and interlopers were

warned away, but during the seventy years while it was under the control of

Spain and Mexico no Spaniard, Mexican or native Californian ever exerted

himself to realize the expectations of those who predicted a great future for

the unrivalled sheet of water which bears the name of the patron saint of the

Franciscan order. 




It is

related that one of the padres who assisted at the establishment of the Preside

of San Francisco^ after performing the ceremony of blessing the site of Fort

Point, ascended to the slight eminence in its rear, where he found a very green

and flowery table land abounding in wild violets and sloping gently towards the

port. In a description which he subsequently wrote he pronounced the view

"delicious." "There may be seen," he said, "not only a

good part of the port with its islands, but the mouth of the bay and the sea

where the prospect ranges even beyond the Farallones." 




A man of

his cloth might have stopped here but he went on indulging in practical

comment, which probably reflected the belief and aspirations of the first

settlers on the Bay of San Francisco. "I judged," he wrote,

"that if this site could be well populated as in Europe, there would be

nothing finer in the world, as it was in every way fitted for a most beautiful

city — one of equal advantages by either land or water, with that port so

remarkable and capacious, wherein could be built ship yards, quays and whatever

might be desired." 




A few

years later, in 1788, Viceroy Manuel Antonio Florez, shortly after his arrival

in Mexico, wrote to his home government that there would be no occasion for

surprise if the American colonies of the British, "now that they are an

independent republic, should carry out the design of finding a safe port on the

Pacific and of attempting to sustain it by crossing the immense country of the

continent above our possessions of Texas, New Mexico and California." 




From

these and similar observations made by representatives of the Spanish crown,

and by early visitors to the Pacific coast of North America, we discover that

there was no lack of appreciation of the importance of establishing a port of

the sort described by Florez, nor of its desirability when viewed from the

standpoint of the trader whose interest would lie in the development of a

commerce between Alta California and the rest of the world. But there is an

essential difference between recognition of possibilities and their realization.






The

crown, the viceroy of Mexico, the governors of California and the padres may

have fully comprehended the importance of the Bay of San Francisco, but they

never moved a hand to bring about the result which they desired to see

achieved. Even the stimulus of fear, inspired by rivalry, was powerless to

quicken them to action of any sort looking to the realization of their hopes.

Their inertia was so marked during the entire period under review that a doubt

arises whether the expressions of opinion by the optimistic were not merely

words destitute of significance, and wholly devoid of that quality which spurs

men to action. 




In 1806

a Russian named Razenoff visited San Francisco for the purpose of obtaining

supplies for his countrymen, who were taking pelts in Alaska. He was compelled

to resort to extraordinary devices to escape the restrictions imposed by the

distant authorities upon trade of all kinds with the Californians. Many of

these obstacles were the result of fear of Russian encroachment, an not entirely

unwarranted apprehension, but one which could hardly be removed by the pursuit

of the policy of aloofness which involved complete abstention from effort to

create the means by which aggression could be prevented. 




This

astute foreigner, who did not hesitate to spy out the land while attempting to

persuade the commandante of the port of San Francisco, and the padres, that

they would be committing no crime in disposing of some of their surplus

products, appears to have lectured his hosts with vigor on their supineness,

declaring with refreshing directness that they were negligent of their

interests which required that they should develop their country, so that

regions less favored by nature might obtain in exchange for their peculiar

products needed supplies of food stuffs. 




There is

no evidence that his advice made any serious impression on his hearers. They

may have regarded it as sensible, and were doubtless quite ready to admit that

they would benefit by following his suggestions, but they failed to act. Eleven

years later, while Arguello, who had been Razenoff's host, was still

commandante, the magnificent body of water, about whose shores nearly a million

people are now engaged in productive pursuits, was as little used by man as it

had been before the first Spanish vessel entered through the Golden Gate. 




Desiring

to secure some timber necessary to effect some much-needed repairs of the

presidio buildings Arguello resorted to Corte de Madera to obtain what he

required. The wood cutters who felled the trees and prepared them for use were

compelled to cross the Carquinez straits on rafts and made their way to Corte

de Madera by way of Sonoma, Petaluma and San Rafael, making a circuit of

seventy leagues, while the actual distance between the forest and the presidio

is less than four leagues. An English carpenter assisted in building a suitable

craft to bring the timber to the presidio front and spent some days in teaching

the soldiers how to sail it. Without this assistance, and that of an Indian

named Marin, the cargo could hardly have been successfully brought across the

bay; as it was the cumbersome craft was nearly wrecked in Racoon straits. 




Unpromising

as was this initial effort it met with the additional discouragement of the

disapproval of Governor Sola, who was enraged that the launch should have been

built without his authority. Commandante Arguello experienced great difficulty

in convincing him that it was absolutely necessary to engage in the enterprise

to save the presidio from falling into utter ruin. The explanation condoned the

heinous offense of the commandante, but the sharp reproof he had received

appears to have effectually cured any desire he may have felt to engage in

further maritime activities. 




It was

not until several years after this episode that any serious effort was made to

navigate the bay, and it soon developed monopolistic tendencies, which however,

did not prompt attempts at regulation. William A. Richardson, who had first

settled at Sausalito, in 1822, moved to San Francisco and not long after he

began sailing a couple of schooners between points where settlements had been

made, collecting produce from the missions and farms. His enterprise speedily

developed into a monopoly, but the records do not show that he adopted any irregular

methods to secure or maintain it; nor do they indicate dissatisfaction with his

rates, which were 12 cents a piece for hides, $1 per bag of tallow weighing 500

pounds and 25 cents for two and a half bushels of wheat. 




The

charges were not based on the length of the haul but appear to have been

uniform for all distances, and the service performed in all cases was the

transference of the products from various points on the bay to the Cove of

Yerba Buena, where it was finally transferred to seagoing vessels. Later the

Mission St. Francis, and those at San Jose, each maintained a thirty-ton

schooner, but it is noteworthy, as indicative of the utter inefficiency of the

Spaniards and Mexicans, that they were built at Fort Ross by the Russians, no

one connected with the religious foundations or any settler having the

requisite skill to engage in such construction. 




Although

the Californians were indifferent to the advantages of the magnificent harbor

and allowed them to remain practically unutilized, that fact did not prevent

the outside world gaining information which incited longings for an opportunity

to compel a development which the Spaniards were disposed to neglect. In spite

of a policy which sought to make the Bay of San Francisco as inaccessible as the

interior of a monastery it was penetrated at intervals and usually the visiting

strangers were prompted to speak in glowing terms of the disregarded

possibilities. Captain Frederick M. Beechey of "H. M. S. Blossom" who

entered the bay in 1826 subsequently wrote that "California must awaken

from its lethargy, or fall into other hands. It was of too much importance to

remain neglected." 




In 1832

Captain Benjamin Morrell, a Yankee skipper who had traded on the coast, and had

informed himself concerning its capabilities, wrote a book in which he echoed

the words of Beechey and gave them point by suggesting that the young republic

contained the people who would effect the redemption of the slumbering

Californians. He said: "These beautiful regions (were they but the

property of the United States) would not be permitted to remain neglected. The

Eastern and Middle states would pour into them their thousands of emigrants

until magnificent cities would arise on the shores of every inlet on the coast,

while the wilderness of the interior would be made to blossom like the

rose." 




It is

not clear that the Californians were acquainted with the grooving interest that

the outside world was taking in their affairs, and that other people were

casting longing eyes upon their bay, which was becoming famous. They were not

very literary and had small acquaintance with books, and it is not difficult to

think of them as absolutely uninformed concerning the appearance of fresh

publications. But such descriptions as those of Morrell made a vivid impression

on the people of the Atlantic states which soon began to find expression in

recommendations which did not go unheeded by those in authority. 




The

dominant note in all of these was the desirability of an outlet to the Pacific.

The manifest destiny idea made suggestions of this sort welcome, and every bit

of information was made to fit in with the popular desire. The difficulties

with Mexico which culminated in the acquisition of the coveted territory were

not of sudden origin; they may easily be traced back to a period many years

anterior to the trouble on the Rio Grande. It would be far more reasonable to

attribute to the desire for a station for American whalers in the harbor of San

Francisco, which was strongly expressed during Jackson's administration, the

war with ^Mexico than to charge it to the machinations of the pro slavery

element. 




That the

advocates of slavery performed a conspicuous part in bringing about the result

is undeniable, but the success which crowned their efforts was wholly due to

the sentiment which found noisy expression in the "Fifty-four-forty or

fight" slogan of the campaign which put Polk in the presidential chair.

The American people were not particularly bent on sustaining the institution of

slavery, but they were under the domination of an irresistible desire to extend

the territory of the United States westward until it should reach the Pacific. 




We find

this longing outlined in the report of Colonel Anthony Butler, who was

appointed charge d'affaires to Mexico by his friend President Jackson. In 1835

Butler went to Washington to press on the attention of the president a

proposition to secure by treaties from Mexico the whole tract of territory

"known as New Mexico and the higher and lower California." This

region he declared as "an empire in itself, a paradise in climate * * *

rich in minerals, and affording a water route to the Pacific through the

Arkansas and Colorado rivers." 




Butler's

information respecting the navigability of the two rivers mentioned by him was

not accurate, but his desire for an outlet to the Pacific was plainly

indicated. His opinion that the coveted territory the acquisition of which

would permit access to the great ocean whose waters lave the shores of the

newest and most ancient of nations, was clearly expressed, however, and his

view that it could be obtained by treaty found acceptance and in 1842 was urged

upon Daniel Webster by Waddy Thompson, the American minister to Mexico, who was

confident that the latter country could be persuaded to cede Texas and the

Californias to the United States in payment of the claims of American merchants

against the Mexican government. 




The

striking feature of Thompson's recommendation is the assumption running through

it that Mexico thought so little of the territory whose acquisition he urged

that it would part with it for less than a song. The minister was under no

misapprehension concerning the value of the territory, but he evidently

believed that the Mexicans regarded it as valueless, or, at least, that they

realized that they were incapable of promoting its development. He said, in

speaking of it: "As to Texas I regard it as of little value compared with

California, the richest, most beautiful and the healthiest country in the

world." But it was upon the value of the harbor of San Francisco that he

laid the most stress, declaring that it was "capacious enough to receive

the navies of the world." 




Thompson's

assumption that the occupants of California were appreciative of its value was

only partially true. The archives of the City of Mexico, and the records stored

in San Francisco, and so liberally used in determining land title controversies

at a later date, prove conclusively that there were Californians who had the

capacity to judge and describe the resources of the territory although they

were incapable of developing them. We have a report of Arguello, made in 1825

on the condition and prospects of California in which he spoke of the admirable

physical characteristics of the country; its splendid forests; its soil of

inconceivable fertility, and "its capacity of becoming one of the richest

and happiest countries in the world." 




It is

significant that Arguello's glowing description lays no stress upon the value

of the harbor of San Francisco, and hardly suggests its existence. It is

permeated throughout by the same feeling that the padres inherited from the

feudalistic experiment of the middle ages, and which they managed to preserve

and pass on down almost to our own times. It breathes the spirit of isolation,

accompanied by that narrow conception of self sufficingness which was the most

marked characteristic of the institution in the middle ages, and which in the

midst of comparatively dense populations in Europe set up such barriers that

intercourse between separated communities was almost wholly suspended. 




It is

not surprising that the productive faculties should have been atrophied, and

the trading instinct weakened by the non-intercourse predilections of the

Californians, who did not apparently greatly resent the decrees and the

legislation which threw them on their own feeble resources. Throughout the

period while they were in control no efforts were made by the native

Californians to open communication with outsiders. Such intercourse as they had

with strangers was unsolicited by them, and often it was unwelcome. They were

not merely content to refrain from efforts to create surpluses for exchange,

they actually had to be coaxed to part with these which were created for them

by their prolific herds. 




They

were not inhospitable to strangers whose motives in visiting them were not open

to suspicion, and even welcomed those who were ready to accept their habits and

who assumed family relations which made them part of the community. But they

did not go out of their way to invite immigration and promptly took alarm when

it began to assume proportions which threatened to provide the labor needed to

develop the neglected resources of the country. 




This

invasion, as we shall see later on, was not from the water. Despite the fact

that the Bay of San Francisco was much discussed, and its advantages well

apprehended, it was rarely visited by ships. Few merchantmen entered the

harbor, their trading being more conveniently transacted at Monterey and other points

along the coast where supplies of hides and tallow were stored. The records

show that between 1816 and 1842 nine or ten war vessels entered the port, among

them five flying the American flag. The first American war vessel to visit the

bay came through the Golden Gate in 1841 and was followed in the same year by

another, both being bent on surveying errands. A year later the

"Yorktown," "Cyane and Dale" paid visits to the port that

was to be, but which at that time gave few indications of its future greatness.






Apart

from these visits there was little to record of shipping activity in the harbor

prior to 1842 but after that year the visits of war ships and merchantmen

became more frequent. The laws of Mexico had reserved to the governor of the

province the disposal of lands within a certain number of feet below high water

mark, but the power was not made use of until 1835, and then only in a negative

fashion, Figueroa framing an ordinance in that year forbidding the presidial

authorities making any grants of land about the Yerba Buena cove nearer than

200 varas from the beach without his special order. 




From

this order may be said to date the foundation of Yerba Buena, the village that

has since developed into a great city. The purpose of Figueroa in making the

reservation was to preserve it for government use. Applications had been made

before that date by individuals who desired to secure the land about the cove

for farming purposes, and he desired to prevent it falling into private hands.

He also contemplated something in the way of creating a settlement; but he died

before the town he proposed could be laid out; and nothing was done until 1839

when Alvarado, the then governor, dispatched an order to survey the plain and

cove of Yerba Buena, which was executed by Alcalde Francisco Haro with the

assistance of Captain John Virget who ran the lines. 


















 





CHAPTER VII. FOUNDATION OF THE VILLAGE OF YERBA BUENA 





THE

boundaries of the town laid out under the order of Alvarado would make but a

small dot on the map of the San Francisco of 1912, and to the person unfamiliar

with the fact that much of the land in what is now the business section of the

City was recovered from the bay, it would appear that no special effort was

made to get near the water front. The ambitions of the founders were satisfied

by setting off a space which had Pacific street for its northern and Sacramento

for its southern boundary, while its western limit was described by Dupont

street and its eastern by Montgomery, the waters of the cove reaching the

latter street in 1839, the year in which the survey was made. 




This

district, known as Yerba Buena until 1847 when the name was changed to San

Francisco, was described by the early comers as being about the most unlovely

part of the region surrounding the bay. It was barren and in the immediate

vicinity were low sand hills covered with coarse shrubbery and patches of

grass. Yerba Buena derived its appellation from the village of that name which

stood on the spot surveyed in 1839, but it was only known locally by that

designation, its true name being given on the map as San Francisco. 




Yerba

Buena is the Spanish name of a vine found in the underwood of the region about

the bay which has some claims to fragrance. Literally translated it means good

herb, and the earliest annalists state that it was held in some estimation by

the settlers of Spanish extraction who brewed a tea from its leaves. 




The

first house in Yerba Buena appears to have been erected in 1835 by Captain W.

A. Richardson who anticipated the survey. It was not a very substantial

construction, being merely a ship's foresail stretched over four redwood posts.

Richardson was in charge of the two schooners mentioned as belonging to the

missions of St. Francis and Santa Clara. His connection with the padres secured

for him the privilege of planting the tent-like structure on the spot

mentioned. Later he built an adobe house on what is now Dupont street west of

Portsmouth square. 




That was

in 1841 and there were then thirty families living in the village. In addition

to the adobe house of Richardson, Juana Briones, a widow, had erected another

on the corner of Powell and Filbert streets, and there was an establishment of

the Russians which was built of wooden slabs and covered with tarpaulin. Three

years later Yerba Buena had about a dozen houses and in 1846 the number had

increased to fifty. The expansion of the two last years was caused by the

impending change in the administration of Californian affairs foreshadowed by

the collision between the United States and Mexico, the outcome of which held

no riddle for active minded Americans. 




In

addition to this small settlement there was the establishment at Dolores and

the garrison at the presidio. Although the site selected by the padres for

their operations does not suggest extensive tilling of the soil, a century ago

it presented an entirely different aspect and as the records attest it was

capable of producing on a liberal scale. At no time after its foundation was

the importance of the mission inferior to that of the military or the

commercial part of the community, and throughout the somewhat tense periods

when the spiritual and temporal powers were in conflict the padres retained

their hold upon the respect and affections of the little society. 




It is

not in the doings of so small a community as Yerba Buena was in the years

immediately following the establishment of the mission that we can find the

materials for a picture of the social life of the people who first displaced

the native Indians of California. There were other and large establishments

which outranked that of St. Francis in wealth, but the latter from the day that

it was dedicated with firing of muskets, which greatly scared the poor Indians

who were drawn to the scene by the ceremony, and by a display of such banners,

vestments and other articles of ceremonial display as the padres could provide,

always occupied a position of importance in the minds of the authorities, and

perhaps that of the people generally because it was the northern outpost of the

mission establishments and in a way the only barrier that had been set up to

guard against Russian encroachment. 




Monterey

down to the time of the American occupation was the social center of Northern

California, as it was also of the political activities of the region. But while

the foundation on Monterey bay outshone that of St. Francis the latter appears

to have had attractions at an early date for foreigners, especially the

Russians, who exhibited a decided inclination for the locality and in one way

and another proved a source of uneasiness to Spain and the people planted by

that country in Northern California. 




Mention

has already been made of a Russian named Rezanoff who in 1806 visited the

harbor of San Francisco in quest of supplies for the hunter's station

established by Russia in Alaska, the occupants of which were in a condition

bordering on starvation. The adventure of Rezanoff is interesting as it

discloses the desires of Russia, but more particularly because it affords us a

glimpse of the mode of life in the little community made up of the garrison of

the presidio and their families, and the fathers and the servants and workers

of the mission. 




Rezanoff

was chamberlain of the czar in 1803 and conceived the design of securing trade

concessions for Russia from the Japanese, but proving unsuccessful in his

effort he crossed over to the Aleutian islands bearing with him credentials as

inspector of the Northwestern establishments of the Russian crown. He found the

condition of the station at Unalaska deplorable when he reached there in 1805,

the employees of the Russian-American Company being in a state bordering on

starvation. 




Rezanoff

at once resolved to relieve their distress by obtaining supplies from

California. His expedition for that purpose was attended with many hazards. It

started at a season of the year when terrific gales were likely to be

encountered, and he realized that in the event of weathering the storms which

menaced his voyage that he might meet a hostile reception at the hands of the

Californians. But he stated in a communication to the home office that it was

merely a question of taking the risks or of remaining in Alaska and starving. 




In this

same correspondence traces of other objects than the obtaining of relief are

found. In it he discussed the unenterprising character of the Spaniards who

made scarcely any use of their fertile lands, and he also animadverted upon the

Bostonians who were trading to a limited extent with the Californians, and

proposed supplanting them if possible, remarking that there was no reason why

factories in Siberia should not supply to the Spaniards cloth, ironware, linen

and such things in exchange for breadstuffs and other produce. 




If

Rezanoff had any expectation of the strict regulations made by the Spaniards

for the port of San Francisco being enforced he must have been surprised when

he sailed into the harbor on the 5th of April. There was a reasonable prospect

of his being fired upon by the battery of San Joaquin as he ran by without

asking permission to enter, but he met with no such reception probably because

advices had been received from Madrid, not long before that date, to the effect

that a better understanding between Spain and Russia had been reached, and that

a Russian vessel would shortly visit the coast. 




Instead

of the expected rebuff which Rezanoff was prepared to encounter, trusting to

his ability to smooth things over after effecting an entrance, a confidence

which was by no means misplaced, he was received with pleasure, and he and

those on board his ship the "Juno," were overwhelmed with civilities

by the son of the commandante of the port Luis Arguello, whose father Jose

happened to be absent at the time at Monterey, where he was visiting the

governor. 




Rezanoff

took advantage of the situation created by the misapprehension. He at once

wrote to the governor, Arrillaga, proposing to visit him at Monterey, but that

official, who was not altogether satisfied as to the regularity of the

proceeding, answered that he would do himself the honor of receiving his guest

at San Francisco which he did, and there met the Russian. On the day following

the official meeting Rezanoff and the governor were invited to dine with the

commandante and there the Russian encountered his fate in the shape of the

daughter of Jose Arguello whose accomplishments, lovely disposition and beauty

were celebrated throughout the Californias. 




Concepcion

was only 14 years old and was romantic and highly impressionable and longed for

adventure. Rezanoff promptly surrendered to her charms and the youthful

senorita reciprocated his advances. It does not appear that this first San

Franciscan romance suffered interruption in its earliest stages, but later on

when it had fully developed, and the Russian formally offered his hand, the

padres and the whole community protested against the match, regarding the

difference of religion of the lovers as an insuperable obstacle to their union.






Rezanoff

and his sweetheart looked upon the matter differently, probably feeling that

verbal distinctions made by disputing religionists should not be permitted to

interfere with their happiness, and vowed eternal constancy to each other. The

Russian, however, did not allow the love affair to interfere with the

accomplishment of his main purpose. If it were not for information derived from

the archives of Russia years after the affair had become merely a memory it

might even be supposed that he made use of Cupid to forward his objects. 




At any

rate he continued his negotiations for supplies and eventually succeeded in

breaking down the scruples of the governor whose instructions on the subject

were rather precise, and did not contemplate trading with Russians under

circumstances suggestive of lending aid and comfort to a power whose intentions

were suspected by the Spanish. But the padres were quite willing to trade and

the commandante offered no opposition and the hold of the "Juno" was

well filled with flour, maize, beans and peas when the Russian sailed away for

Alaska. As she passed down the harbor the battery on San Joaquin thundered out

a parting salute; the people on shore waved good-byes and many of them hoped

for a speedy return of the engaging Russian and his agreeable entourage. 




Rezanoff's

efforts were by no means confined to securing a cargo of needed supplies for

the Alaskan station. He discussed with the padres his scheme of trade relations

between Siberia and California, and convinced them of its desirability. He even

tried to persuade Arrillaga to make representations to the court of Spain which

would pave the way to the consummation of a commercial treaty, but the governor

was indisposed to meddle with the project. 




When

Rezanoff sailed away from San Francisco he was filled with the idea of closer

trade relations and his correspondence recently unearthed by Richman shows that

he meant to push it with vigor, and it also discloses that the pledge he made

to Dona Concepcion was sincere, and that when he had succeeded in his purpose

of effecting a treaty between Russia and Spain he meant to return to California

by way of Mexico and marry her. 




But fate

willed otherwise and perhaps his inability to carry out his plan changed the

destiny of California. Rezanoff reached Sitka in safety and relieved the

suffering employees of the fur company and in September 1806, he crossed over

to Kamchatka and from thence he started overland to St. Petersburg. He was ill

when he began the long and arduous journey and had the misfortune of falling

from his horse while in that condition. A fever took hold of him and became so

bad that he died at Krasnoyarsk on the 1st of March 1807, and was buried there

and a monument was erected to his memory. 




But

those who accompanied him failed to take the trouble to apprise the little

Californian beauty of his death and she remained in ignorance of the fact for

many years, but always maintained an abiding faith in the constancy of her

lover. It may help to a realization of the isolation of California to know that

Concepcion did not learn of the circumstances attending the demise of Rezanoff

until they were related to her in 1842 by Sir George Simpson at Santa Barbara.

She had assumed the duties of the Third Order of Franciscans some years before,

and in 1851 as Sister Maria Dominica she entered the Dominican Convent of St.

Catarina at Monterey, and in 1854 she followed the institution to Benicia where

she died December 23, 1857, at the age of 63. 




The romance

was not completely rounded out until three or four years ago when an

indefatigable searcher found in certain records the correspondence of Rezanoff

which indisputably settled the honesty of his professions of devotion,

respecting which there was for a time some doubt in California although it was

never shared by the faithful Concepcion. 




The

story deserves a place in the history of San Francisco because it reveals facts

which explain the methods by which the Russians subsequently gained a foothold

in California. The visit of Rezanoff paved the way for the planting of the

establishment at Ross which continued down almost to the time of the American

occupation, and it has its value also because it throws some sidelights on the

methods of the padres in dealing with their charges, and to some extent reveals

the extent of their domination over those who lived outside of the immediate

precincts of the mission. 




The case

of Rezanoff makes it perfectly plain that whenever religion was concerned, and

especially if the matter touched women, the priests had no difficulty in

controlling the people. It is true that Concepcion's mother was antagonistic to

the union of her daughter with the Russian, because she believed that it meant

separation, but she realized that the ardent attachment of the two would not

yield to her wishes so she invoked the assistance of the church which was

promptly rendered, and would have prevailed unless Rezanoff had abjured the

Greek church. 




That he

had any intention of doing so seems improbable. He undoubtedly designed

returning to California but the tenor of his correspondence indicates that his

mind was too thoroughly saturated with ambitious projects for the advancement

of the fortunes of Russia to permit him to easily renounce the established

church of that country. He was a resourceful man, and the padres would have had

trouble with him had he come back to claim his bride; but their threats of

ex-communication had sufficient power to postpone the union of the two until

death finally separated them. 




There

are not many recorded instances of recalcitrancy of a gravity sufficient to

call for the use of this formidable weapon of the church, but those of which we

have knowledge suggest that, except in the case of exceptional men, there was

no disposition on the part of the native Californians to question the right of

the padres to regulate their lives so far as spiritual affairs were concerned;

and that they continued to keep the boundary line between the temporal and

spiritual so indeterminate that it was always easy to make the latter overlap

the former. 




In the

matter of education the padres were especially jealous and unremitting in their

effort to preserve the people from the contamination of bad books. There was a

great scarcity of literature of any sort in California when the padres were in

control, and the supply was not augmented until the Americans began to make

their appearance. The extent of the mission library in San Francisco was a

geographical dictionary, the laws of the Indies and a copy of Chateaubriand. At

San Juan the monks regaled themselves with "Gil Blas." San Luis

Obispo boasted twenty volumes of Buffon's "Natural History," and at

San Gabriel a "Life of Cicero" was treasured together with an edition

of the lives of celebrated Spaniards, "Goldsmith's Greece,"

"Venega's California," "Exposures of the Private Life of

Napoleon" and Rousseau's "Julie." 




In 1884

Dr. Alva brought from Mexico several boxes of miscellaneous and scientific

books, but they were promptly seized and burned by the missionaries, and while

Alvarado was governor they attempted to control his taste in the matter of

reading, which had inquisitive features not agreeable to the fathers. His

disposition, however, was not of the yielding sort, and he disregarded threats

which would easily have scared a less independent character. There may be some

connection between the fact that Arguello read what he pleased and the

reputation for efficiency which was freely accorded him by the people but not

always by his superiors who sometimes found him troublesome. 




It is

almost unthinkable considering the later reputation of the Californians that

there should have been a time in their history when the pastime of dancing was

interdicted, or perhaps it would be more precise to say when an effort was made

to taboo the waltz. That form of terpsichorean art had been introduced by

foreigners during the administration of Governor Arguello and at once became

very popular. Father Sarria regarded the innovation with much displeasure and procured

from the bishop of Sonora an edict forbidding the waltz. It was posted on all

the church doors and created great consternation, but the governor who had

taken kindly to the new-fangled dance when appealed to encouraged the ungodly

to persist in their whirling practice by remarking that he was neither a bishop

nor an archbishop, but if he felt an inclination to dance he would do so,

whereupon Father Sarria prudently withdrew his objections. 




It may

be unwise, however, to attach too much importance to these interferences, or to

assume that they were dictated by religious intolerance or sacerdotal

arrogance. There are stories of the existence of a domineering spirit which

make it reasonable to suppose that much of the effort to restrain may have been

due to the propensity of the period to exert authority in an arbitrary and

overbearing manner. Thus it is related of Sola, the first governor of

California under Mexican rule, that having ordered Luis Antonio Arguello to

Monterey to explain the building of a vessel without his order the latter

entered his presence with a sword which he carried at his side, using it in

lieu of a cane, having injured his leg on the ride from San Francisco to

Monterey. As soon as Sola perceived the weapon he began upbraiding Arguello and

was about to use his cane upon him when the latter straightened up and prepared

to answer in kind. This brought Sola to his senses and he apologized to

Arguello by saying that his cane was reserved for the pusillanimous. 




This

well authenticated case of the attempted exercise of arbitrary power fits in

with the knowledge we have of the almost despotic rule of the head of the

family whose authority, especially among what might be called the better

classes, was little less than that accorded to the father in Ancient Rome. When

the Californian father entered the room where the family were assembled for

meals or any other purpose all arose and respectfully greeted him, and the

ceremony was repeated when he departed. The custom may present a refreshing

contrast to the almost absence of respect paid by children to their parents in

these days, but it undeniably points to a condition of dependence unfavorable

to initiative; and the results it produced were somewhat like those witnessed

in China where the dead hand stretched from the grave to clutch the skirts of

progress holding her back for centuries. 




The

deference of children to their parents was more than matched by that shown by

the dependents of the household. It was exhibited in a manner which had many

peculiarities distinguishing it from the elaborated exactions of the grandees

of Spain, and observance of these misled many observers who failed to get back

of the veil of familiarity which had its rigid requirements. The Southerner

hailing from the slave states could understand the Californian, but the New

Englander and Americans from other parts of the Union where involuntary

servitude was unknown, rarely perceived the striking resemblance to the mode of

life so common south of Mason and Dixon's line before the war, and attributed

the shortcomings of the people to the interference of the priests, when in fact

it was due to the survival of the feudal spirit, under whose thralldom the

church was as securely held as the other members of the community. 


















 





CHAPTER VIII. LIFE OF NATIVE CALIFORNIANS ON THEIR

RANCHES 





SIR

WALTER SCOTT and other writers of romances who have dealt with the lives of the

people who lived under the feudal institution have given us pictures of a state

of society the reverse of unpleasant. If we divest ourselves of the feeling

that has had possession of the world since the Renaissance, and ignore what

amounts to a passion for material progress it is by no means difficult to find

much to admire in the manners and entire mode of life of the people of the

middle ages. California during the period 1776-1846, if considered in the same

spirit, creates the frame of mind obtained by the impressionable reader of

"Ivanhoe," and is very apt to produce a judgment which easily passes

over the defects and only sees the virtues of the actors and the system. 




Foremost

among the amiable qualities of the Californians, those who occupied the land

before the gringo came, was that of hospitality. It was dispensed in a fashion

calculated to suggest that the phrases framed by the Spanish in which the

courteous host turned over all of his possessions to the visitor or guest were

not wholly insincere. The native who made a person at home by saying my house

and all within it is yours, came near meaning what he said, and it might be

added without greatly departing from the truth that the one to whom the tender

was made usually accepted it very literally. 




It was

said in another connection that the lack of intercourse between the different

sections of California in the days before the American occupation was a barrier

to progress. The facilities for communication were so utterly inadequate that

the development of domestic trade was impossible. A people whose ingenuity and

industry were unable to produce anything better than the caretta with

its clumsy wheels made of discs of wood, and who were outclassed as boat

builders and navigators by the Indians they found fishing in the Santa Barbara

channel, could hardly be expected to promote that sort of intercourse prompted

by desire for gain. 




But

while the facilities for moving articles were wretched, being confined on the

land to the slow-moving cart drawn by a yoke of oxen, and to practically no

means of getting about on the water, the natives found no obstacles to free

intercourse when hospitality, or the desire for the amusements which its

exercise brought about, were in question. Then they rose equal to the occasion.

The horse, which for some inexplicable reason never served conspicuously as a

draught animal, was then brought into requisition and surprising results in the

way of traveling were achieved. 




Mention

has been made of the great number of horses bred at the missions, and on the

ranches. No especial care was taken to keep up the strains which might have

been fine in the beginning, but had greatly deteriorated through neglect.

Quantity and not quality characterized the stock; still the result was not

entirely bad, for out of the great herds choice specimens could be picked, and

as the number to be drawn upon was practically illimitable there were plenty of

fairly good animals at the command of all classes. 




As a

result of this abundance everybody rode, and riding became the chief

accomplishment of the ranch owner, his wife and daughters and his sons and

dependents. It was the custom in the morning to catch a horse and to saddle and

bridle it ready for the use of the person who had selected the animal, which,

on occasion might stand for hours waiting to be used. The supply of horses was

so great that they were practically valueless, and it never occurred to the

owner to bother about the return of an animal borrowed from him provided the

borrower sent back the saddle and bridle. 




Thus it

happened that distance formed no obstacle to the assemblage of a large number

of guests at the various feasts and merry makings in which the people indulged

themselves. If the means of the ranchers permitted weddings were always made

great affairs, and it was not unusual, if the contracting couple belonged to a

well-known family, for the celebration of their union to draw friends hundreds

of miles. The San Francisco beaus and belles made little of riding to Monterey

or Santa Barbara; and if the actors were sufficiently distinguished or

particularly well liked Los Angeles was not too distant to draw them. 




Naturally

feasts thus attended were not the ephemeral affairs moderns indulge in, which

are usually limited to a few hours, The Californian when he went forth to enjoy

himself meant to protract the enjoyment as long as possible; and as he found

others were of his way of thinking, and had like desires, days were spent in merrymaking.

There were ill natured critics who declared that the gatherings never dispersed

until all things eatable and drinkable were consumed, but be that as it may the

testimony is uniform that while supplies held out the guests were welcome. 




The

attendants at Californian merrymakings were not always formally invited.

Relatives to the remotest degree considered themselves as on the expected list,

and unfailingly availed themselves of the opportunity to feast at the expense

of their more fortunate connections. A rich rancher usually had an

astonishingly large number ready to assert their relationship on the slightest

pretext, and they rarely shrunk from the obligation imposed by custom of

sharing their good fortune with those who had claims upon them. The claims were

sometimes more imaginary than real, but the spirit of the times and their

peculiar environment made the owners of broad lands and cattle on many hills

welcome the implied dependence. 




The

favorite recreation at festal gatherings was dancing. Before the advent of the

waltz, and even after its general introduction into the province, individual

exhibitions of the terpsichorean art were common. If the dancers borrowed their

steps from Spain the loan must have been effected long before the styles made

familiar during recent years by professionals were in vogue. It is possible

that some of the Californian belles may have displayed the same vigor and

poetry of motion of the highly accomplished modern Spanish danseuse, but most

of them comported themselves with modesty and without any suggestion of

abandonment. 
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